THE FUTURE WE DON'T WANT

How Climate Change Could Impact the World's Greatest Cities

UCCRN Technical Report February 2018









TABLE OF CONTENTS

SECTION 1: OVERVIEW AND BACKGROUND

1. Introduction	4
a. About The Future We Don't Want	4
b. Why Cities?	4
c. About the Technical Report	5
d. Summary of the Results	6
2. Approach	7
a. Data Analysis	7
b. Case Studies	9
c. Global GIS Database	10

SECTION 2: KEY CLIMATE VULNERABILITY CONDITIONS

1. Heat Extremes	11
a. Introduction and Justification	12
b. Methodology	12
c. Discussion and Findings	13
d. Implications for Cities	14
e. Urban Responses	15
2. Heat Extremes and Poverty	17
a. Introduction and Justification	18
b. Methodology	18
c. Discussion and Findings	19
d. Implications for Cities	20
e. Urban Responses	21
3. Water Availability	23
a. Introduction and Justification	24
b. Methodology	24
c. Discussion and Findings	25
d. Implications for Cities	26
e. Urban Responses	37
4. Food Security	29
a. Introduction and Justification	30
b. Methodology	30
c. Discussion and Findings	31
d. Implications for Cities	32
e. Urban Responses	33
5. Sea Level Rise and Coastal Flooding	35
a. Introduction and Justification	36
b. Methodology	36
c. Discussion and Findings	37
d. Implications for Cities	38
e. Urban Responses	39

TABLE OF CONTENTS

6. Sea Level Rise and Energy Systems	41
a. Introduction and Justification	42
b. Methodology	42
c. Discussion and Findings	43
d. Implications for Cities	44
e. Urban Responses	45
SECTION 3: SUMMARY	47
REFERENCES	48
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	54
APPENDIX: DATA SOURCES	55

1. INTRODUCTION

A. ABOUT THE FUTURE WE DON'T WANT

The Future We Don't Want project is a collaboration between C40 Cities, Global Covenant of Mayors, Acclimatise, and the Urban Climate Change Research Network (UCCRN) aimed at understanding and communicating key challenges cities are facing, and will continue to face, as a result of climate change. These four organisations have come together to illustrate the unique risks that climate change poses to cities through a scientific global data analysis, as well as to share urban responses to those risks through case study examples from real-world urban experiences and narrative story lines.

This Technical Report highlights the data analysis and case studies developed by the Urban Climate Change Research Network for this project. It serves as a foundation for building narratives and key communication tools around global impacts of climate change on cities and their responses that will serve as an inspiration for other cities looking to build their own resilience plans.

B. WHY CITIES?

Every year sees the addition of 67 million new urban dwellers. A bulk of this rapid urbanisation is taking place in developing countries. By 2030, an estimated 60 percent of the world's population will be living in urban areas. That figure will keep rising until mid-century when over 65 percent of the world's population is projected to live in cities (IPCC, 2014). This rapid, unprecedented urban growth, poses many urban challenges, even without the added pressure of climate change. However, while the world's urban population keeps growing, cities and the people who live in them will be increasingly vulnerable to climate extremes including more frequent, longer and more intense heat waves, exacerbated inland flooding from heavy downpours, and extended coastal flooding due to sea level rise.

Climate change is already underway and it is increasingly necessary for cities to plan and implement solutions in response to a range of climate hazards that risk impacting the health and well-being of residents as well as urban economies and infrastructural systems. 70 percent of cities are already dealing with the effects of climate change, and nearly all are at risk. For instance, over 90 percent of all urban areas are coastal, which puts most cities across the globe at risk of flooding from sea level rise and powerful storms. The financial effects of climate change can be just as devastating as the physical ones and unexpected disruptions from storms, flooding, and drought can lead to major disruptions in city government and business operations. In light of this global challenge, many urban areas have started developing resilience strategies that encompass integrated structural, behavioural, programmatic, and nature-based approaches.

City leaders are in the right position to deal with this climate challenge for two key reasons: first, cities are big users of energy, consuming 2/3 of the world's energy while creating over 70 percent of greenhouse gases. Second, city mayors in many countries are directly accountable to their constituents for their decisions that affect global developments as well as every-day life.

Key city networks and international organisations are aiding such city action by providing resources, advocacy, and partnerships. As part of the research project, C40 Cities, Global Covenant of Mayors, Acclimatise, and the Urban Climate Change Research Network (UCCRN) have come together to illustrate the unique risks that climate change poses to cities by generating global-scale data on climate impacts and highlighting examples of urban responses to those risks through relevant case studies. This Technical Report highlights the data analysis and case study foundation developed by the Urban Climate Change Research Network for the project.

The UCCRN¹ Second Assessment Report on Climate Change and Cities (ARC3.2) provides a basis for the Future We Don't Want analysis by presenting climate projections for approximately 153 cities and cataloguing urban disasters and risks, along with the effects on human health in cities (UCCRN, 2018). ARC3.2 provides concrete solutions to cities with regard to mitigation and adaptation; urban planning and design; equity and environmental justice; economics, finance, and the private sector; as well as for urban sectors such as energy, water, transportation, housing and informal settlements, solid waste management, and climate governance. The ARC3.2 also includes a Case Study Docking Station (CSDS) that documents city examples and on-the-ground responses to resilience and climate change in 153 UCCRN cities (this approach is further elaborated in Section 4). Of the 153 UCCRN cities, 35 percent are C40 cities, and 45 percent are Global Covenant cities who have all pledged to achieve the goals of the Paris Agreement. The urban case studies from the CSDS form the basis for the examples of climate impacts and solutions that are shared throughout this Technical Report.

The Future We Don't Want aims to highlight the critical risks that cities, and their residents will encounter as a result of climate change. It also provides tangible lessons learned from cities that are investing in actions to build resilience in the face of these risks. By analysing the urban vulnerability to climate change, The Future We Don't Want aims to generate an awareness around what cities will be facing if we don't take drastic action to reduce global emissions. At the same time, our research aims to facilitate urban collaboration where cities can learn from each other and take the right climate actions to meet the adaptation goals of the Paris Agreement. Through increased awareness and ambitious action, city leaders can ensure the continued resilience and sustainable development of urban areas in the age of climate change.

C. ABOUT THE TECHNICAL REPORT

The Technical Report presents the work done by UCCRN for the Future We Don't Want project. The Report contains results from the data analysis of six major global urban vulnerabilities to climate change based on several key hazards, as well as case studies that present examples of how cities are responding to these challenges.

The report presents the background of the technical data analysis and an overview of the UCCRN Case Study Docking Station on which the case study analysis is based. The report then details each of the six vulnerabilities individually. An overarching headline finding for each is presented, along with a map of the global urban outlook for that vulnerability, and the methodology used to develop that information. Then, an overview of that particular vulnerability and the overall findings of the data analysis are discussed. For each impact area, three case study cities have been selected, highlighting examples of how urban decision-makers are experiencing and responding to that particular challenge. The report concludes with a summary and overall key messages for how cities can use this information to prepare for a changing climate.

¹ UCCRN is a network of cities dedicated to providing the information that city leaders-from government, the private sector, non-governmental organisations, and the community—need in order to assess current and future risks, make choices that enhance resilience to climate change and climate extremes, and take actions to reduce greenhouse gas emissions.

Page 6

D. SUMMARY OF RESULTS

SUMMARY OF GLOBAL NUMBERS

Vulnerability	Time Period	Population Estimate	City Estimate
EXTREME HEAT	Present Day	Over 200 million people	Over 350 cities
	2050s	Over 1.6 billion people	Over 970 cities
EXTREME HEAT AND POVERTY	Present Day	Over 26 million people	Over 230 cities
	2050s	Nearly 215 million people	Over 490 cities
WATER AVAILABILITY	2050s Over 650 million people		Over 500 cities
FOOD SECURITY	2050s	Over 2.5 billion people	Over 1,600 cities
SEA LEVEL RISE	2050s	Over 800 Over 570 million people cities	
SEA LEVEL RISE AND POWER PLANTS	2050s	Over 450 million people	Over 230 cities

Extreme Heat: The total number of people living in cities where they are regularly exposed to the hottest 3-month average maximum temperatures reaching at least 35°C (95°F) in the present day and in the 2050s.

Extreme Heat and Poverty: The total number of people living in poverty in cities where they are regularly exposed to the hottest 3-month average maximum temperatures reaching at least 35°C (95°F) in the present day and in the 2050s.

Water Availability: The total number of people living in cities where freshwater availability from stream-flow is projected to decline by at least 10 percent by the 2050s, compared to the present day.

Food Security: The total number of people living in cities where their national yield of at least one of four major crops (maize, rice, soy, or wheat) is projected to decline by at least 10 percent by the 2050s, compared to the present day.

Sea Level Rise: The number of people living in coastal cities where sea level is projected to rise by at least 0.5 metres by the 2050s compared to the present day. Coastal cities are defined as those within 10 kilometres from the coast and have an average elevation below 5 metres.

Sea Level Rise and Power Plants: The number of people living in cities where nearby power supply facilities within 50 kilometres of the city are projected to be vulnerable to 0.5 metres of sea level rise by the 2050s, compared to the present day. Coastal power plants are defined as those within 5 kilometres from the coast and have an average elevation below 5 metres.

2. APPROACH TO TECHNICAL ANALYSIS

The technical analysis performed by UCCRN includes three major components: 1) A global-scale data analysis of six major urban vulnerabilities to climate change; 2) Case studies that contextualise the six major vulnerabilities and how cities are responding to them; and 3) A global GIS database that includes map layers by which these six hazards can be viewed globally across different cities. This technical report includes the global-scale data analysis results, global maps of cities projected to experience the vulnerabilities, and the case studies that ground the research in tangible urban experiences.

A. DATA ANALYSIS

The Future We Don't Want data analysis calculates urban vulnerability to climate change, focusing on six major topics. While these are not the only vulnerabilities that cities are facing as a result of the changing climate, these six areas highlight overarching risks that most cities will encounter and therefore they provide a broad context that encompass almost every city across the globe.

The six key climate vulnerability conditions studied in the Future We Don't Want analysis are:

- Heat extremes
- Poverty and heat extremes
- Water availability
- Food security
- · Coastal flooding and sea level rise
- · Energy supply and sea level rise

At the foundation of the data analysis, for each of these climate vulnerability conditions, is the estimated urban population facing these hazards. Figure 1 below illustrates the global cities that were considered in this analysis, estimating their total population levels, today and in the future.

Population estimates in the base period, for the 2000s, are from Natural Earth Populated Places Dataset² for cities with over 100,000 residents. Population estimates for the 2050s are based on population growth rates through the 2050s derived by applying the growth rate from the Global Rural-Urban Mapping Project (GRUMP)³ urban population extents to the baseline population for cities within the Natural Earth Dataset of cities over 100,000 residents (Marcotullio, personal communication).

Cities were categorised by population size into five classes: a) 100,000 – 500,000; b) 500,001 – 1,000,000; c) 1,000,001 – 5,000,000; d) 5,000,001 – 10,000,000; and e) 10,000,000+. This methodology for population was applied to each of the six climate vulnerability analyses and are reflected in the maps throughout the report.

The total number of cities in the population dataset, and therefore the total number of cities included in this analysis, are 2,586. The total estimated urban baseline population of all of the cities in the Natural Earth Dataset in the 2000s is approximately 1.4 billion (1,435,802,343) people. The total estimated future urban population in the 2050s for all of the cities in this analysis is approximately 3.5 billion (3,547, 807,209) people. Figure 1 highlights the growth in city population size over the five decades between 2000 and 2050, as is indicated by the presence of far more highly-populated cities with over 1 million, 5 million, and 10 million residents compared to the base period.

² Natural Earth Populated Places Dataset - http://www.naturalearthdata.com/downloads/10m-cultural-vectors/10m-populated-places/

2050s



Urban Populations 2050s 10,000,000 + 5,000,001 - 10,000,000 • 1,000,001 - 5,000,000 500,001 - 1,000,000 100,000 - 500,000

Figure 1. Global cities with populations 100,000 and greater in the 2000s (top) and estimated urban populations in the 2050s (bottom). Data source for baseline population in 2000s from Natural Earth Dataset. Data source for population in the 2050s estimated from the GRUMP population growth estimates applied to the baseline population data in the 2000s Natural Earth Dataset (Center for International Earth Science Information Network (CIESIN), Columbia University, 2017).

Center for International Earth Science Information Network (CIESIN), Columbia University. 2017. Documentation for the Global Rural-Urban Mapping Project, Version 1 (GRUMPv1): Urban Extent Polygons, Revision 01. Palisades, NY: NASA Socioeconomic Data and Applications Center (SEDAC). http://dx.doi.org/10.7927/H4C53HSR

Urban populations

B. CASE STUDIES

Each section of the Technical Report presents case studies that highlight how cities are addressing the six climate vulnerabilities on the ground. The content for these case studies comes from the UCCRN Case Study Docking Station (CSDS), which was developed as a part of the Second Assessment Report on Climate Change and Cities (ARC3.2) by local experts and practitioners (Rosenzweig et al., 2018). The UCCRN Case Study Docking Station includes climate projections for approximately 150 cities (Bader et al., 2018), and documents experiences of UCCRN cities and their strategies to improve resilience to climate change. Figure 2.a illustrates the CSDS search engine, and figure 2.b provides an example of a CSDS search. Of the nearly 150 UCCRN cities in the CSDS, 35 percent are also C40 cities, and 45 percent are also Global Covenant cities, who have all pledged to achieve the goals of the Paris Agreement. All case studies included in this report are both C40 cities and UCCRN cities. In addition, information in the case studies throughout the report is supplemented by interviews conducted by C40 and Acclimatise with city stakeholdersand experts.



Figure 2.a. ARC3.2 Case Study Docking Station (CSDS) search engine. See: http://uccrn.org/casestudies/

CHAPTER	COUNTRY	CITY	CASE STUDY TITLE	CASE STUDY NUMBER	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	CASE STUDY FILE
Coastal Zones in Urban Areas	United States (USA)	New York City	Preparing for Sea Level Rise, Coastal Storms, and other Climate Change- Induced Hazards	9.8	As a major center of global finance and international trade, New York City stands to lose a lot from [22]	CS 9.8 - New York, United States.pdf
Economics, Finance, and the Private Sector	United States (USA)	New York City	Public Enabling of Private Real Estate in NYC	7.2	A variety of strategies developed by New York City (NYC) agencies advance the adaptive capacities of 22	CS 7.2 - New York, United States.pdf
Energy Transformation in Cities	United States (USA)	New York City	Consolidated Edison After Sandy: Planning for Energy Resilience	12.A	Con Edison, the electric power company in New York City, suffered major damage in Superstorm Sandy 22	CS 12.A - New York, United States.pdf
Energy Transformation in Cities	United States (USA)	New York City	Renewable Gas Demonstration Projects in New York City	12.3	In New York City, the development of the Newtown Creek Renewable Natural Gas Project is estimated to D	CS 12.3 - New York, United States.pdf

Figure 2.b. Example of search for New York City in the ARC3.2 CSDS (UCCRN, 2018).

C. GLOBAL GIS DATABASE

UCCRN is developing an online, collaborative, web-based global geographic information system (GIS) that allows users to create, use, and share maps, scenes, apps, layers, analytics, and data. This enables UCCRN to integrate datasets and mapping products from individual projects in a consistent manner and facilitates visual representation of the work worldwide that cities are spearheading in their efforts to adapt to and mitigate climate change. Furthermore, meaningful insights can be drawn that inform stakeholders about climate change impacts on urban communities.

In order to complete the data analysis undertaken to support the project, a global GIS database has been developed that allows for visualisation and spatially consistent assessments of relative vulnerability to climate hazards in urban areas worldwide. GIS data layers associated with climate hazards have been put together with a map document (.mxd) into one convenient, portable file known as a 'map package.' Map packages are supported by Environmental Systems Research Institute, Inc (ESRI) ArcGIS® for Desktop version 10.0 onwards. Map packages will fail to open with older versions (9.3.1 or older).

The data layers in the database are ESRI shapefiles that include a main file (.shp), an index file (.shx), and a standard database file used to store attribute data and object IDs (.dbf). The .prj file included with each data layer is an optional file that contains the metadata associated with the shapefiles coordinate and projection system. In addition, an optional spatial index file (.sbn) is included that is utilised for spatial queries. The main file is a direct access, variable-record-length file in which each record describes a shape with a list of its vertices. In the index file, each record contains the offset of the corresponding main file record from the beginning of the main file. The database table contains feature attributes with one record per feature. The one-to-one relationship between geometry and attributes is based on record number. Attribute records in the database file must be in the same order as records in the main file (ESRI, 1998).

Note: Like all projections, these climate and vulnerable population projections have uncertainty embedded within them. Sources of uncertainty include data and modeling constraints, the random nature of some parts of the climate system, and limited understanding of some processes. In this report, the average climate projections are characterised using state-of-the-art climate models, one scenario of future greenhouse gas concentrations, and recent peer-reviewed literature. The potential for error should be acknowledged.



Today

- Roughly 350 cities on earth experience extreme heat conditions in the form of 3-month average maximum temperatures reaching at least 35°C (95°F).
- Just over 200 million people in cities are living under extreme heat conditions.
- 14 percent of the global urban population lives under high heat conditions.

By the 2050s

- Over 970 cities will be regularly exposed to the hottest 3-month average maximum temperatures reaching at least 35°C (95°F).
- More than 1.6 billion people in cities will be living with extreme high summer temperatures.
- 45 percent of the global urban population will be living in cities with high summer temperatures.
- The number of people living in cities regularly exposed to heat extremes will increase by 700 percent compared to today.

A. INTRODUCTION AND JUSTIFICATION

As average global temperatures increase over the coming decades, extreme high temperatures are projected to increase in frequency, intensity, and duration. Cities are particularly at risk because of the urban heat island effect (UHI). The urban heat island effect is a phenomenon where cities tend to be warmer than surrounding suburban and rural areas as a result of a built environment characterised by a high degree of hard surfaces. This makes urban centers more susceptible to heat extremes which can worsen air quality (Foobot, 2017), cause dehydration, heat strokes, cardiovascular complications, kidney diseases, and death (Knowlton et al., 2014). Certain groups of people – including children, the elderly, the sick, and the poor – are particularly vulnerable to persistent heat extremes.

As climate change causes average global temperatures to increase over the coming century, higher extreme temperatures during the hottest times of the year will also become more intense. Today, many urban dwellers in lower latitudes are already familiar with extremely high temperatures for sustained periods of time. In the future, urban populations will continue to grow and more cities will experience higher temperatures. Cities in higher latitudes will therefore face heat extremes that they have not dealt with previously. Understanding how extreme heat situations are expected to change in the coming decades will help city leaders protect the health of city residents, increase infrastructure resilience, and prepare for demands on their energy systems.

B. METHODOLOGY

Extreme heat is defined in this analysis as the warmest 3-consecutive month period (defined using average monthly maximum temperature) in a given location. Climate scenarios used are from the NASA Earth Exchange Global Daily Downscaled Projections (NEX-GDDP) dataset, prepared by the Climate Analytics Group and NASA Ames Research Center using the NASA Earth Exchange, and distributed by the NASA Center for Climate Simulation (NCCS) (NASA, 2017). The NEX-GDDP dataset is made available by NASA to assist the science community in conducting studies of climate change impacts at local to regional scales, and to enhance public understanding of possible future global climate patterns at the spatial scale of individual towns, cities, and watersheds.

Using outputs from four global climate models (IPSL-CM5A-LR, MIROC-ESM-CHEM, GFDL-ESM2M, and NorESM1-M) in the NEX-GDDP dataset, monthly maximum temperatures were averaged over 3-consecutive months to find the hottest 3-month periods for each 0.25 by 0.25 degree grid cell. This analysis was conducted for both the historical model base period (1980-2005) as well as the future 2050s time frame (defined as 2041-2070).

A temperature threshold of 35°C (95°F) was applied to multi-model means across all grid cells to identify the urban areas most vulnerable to extreme heat. That is a temperature when it is possible to, for example, experience heat cramp or exhaustion. The analysis was conducted for cities with populations greater than 100,000 during the base period and in the 2050s. The historical and projected populations of cities that exceed the extreme heat threshold are summed to develop a global estimate of the urban population vulnerable to extreme heat during the base period and in the 2050s.

C. DISCUSSION AND FINDINGS

Today, over 200 million people living in more than 350 cities, mostly in the lower latitudes, regularly experience their hottest 3-month average maximum temperatures reaching at least 35°C (95°F). Global urban populations are estimated to be 1.4 billion people in the base period - implying that 14 percent of all urban residents already face heat extremes.

As urban populations and average temperatures increase globally, over 1.6 billion people will be living in more than 970 cities where they will be exposed to these temperature extremes by midcentury (Figure 3). To put that in perspective, with urban populations in the 2050s projected to reach 3.5 billion people, 1.6 billion, or 45 percent of the total global urban population will be living under these heat conditions. This is an eight-fold increase in the number of urban residents facing sustained heat stress.

Extreme Heat

Baseline Period





Figure 3. Urban populations at risk to extreme heat. Data source: Cities with a three month period (consecutive months) where average maximum temperatures exceed 35°C in the baseline period (top) compared to those that are projected to experience these temperature extremes by the 2050s (bottom). Multi-model mean temperature is derived from the NASA NEX-GDDP dataset with four GCMs (IPSL-CM5A-LR, MIROC-ESM-CHEM, GFDL-ESM2M, and NorESM1-M); Average monthly (hottest three consecutive months) maximum temperature for 1980-2005 baseline period is compared to 2041-2070 under RCP 8.5; Population estimates in the baseline period are from the Natural Earth Dataset for cities over 100,000 residents, and population growth rates for the 2050s are derived by applying the growth rate from the Global Rural-Urban Mapping Project (GRUMP) urban population extents to cities within the Natural Earth Dataset.

Page 14

The Future We Don't Want analysis shows that Asia, and the Middle East, are already home to many cities that experience extreme temperatures. By 2050, the number of exposed cities in these regions will increase significantly with hundreds more cities at risk. The research also shows that regions that currently have few cities that deal with extreme heat, will see exposure rise dramatically. Eastern China; southern, western and northern Africa; North America and parts of South America will be especially affected. Rising urban populations in these regions is partially to blame for the increased exposure over the next 30 years when 90 percent of urbanisation is expected to be concentrated in Asia and Africa alone (United Nations, 2014).

.....

D. IMPLICATIONS FOR CITIES

Past heat waves offer a window into the future for cities expecting temperatures to rise. Today, nearly one third of the world's population is exposed to life-threatening heat extremes for 20 days a year or more (Mora et al, 2017). Events such as the 2003 heatwave in Europe, which claimed over 70,000 lives, and the 2015 heatwave in South Asia, that resulted in 3,500 deaths, will become more frequent and severe by the 2050s.

In the United States, heat waves pose a major climaterelated risk to cities because more fatalities occur from heat waves than from any other climate hazard, (NOAA, 2016). For example, out of 4,564 reported fatalities between 2006 and 2015 related to hazards such as tornadoes. floods, lightning, winter storms, and hurricanes, a total of 1,130 fatalities were related to heat, representing almost 25 percent of the fatalities reported. Although, it's worth noting that the number shown does not capture the fullextent of heat-related deaths because manv fatalities associated with heat extremes are not identified as such by medical examiners (NOAA, 2016).

By 2050, people who already live in hot places will have to adapt to even longer periods of sweltering heat; while people who live in cooler cities will be exposed to levels of extreme heat to which they are unaccustomed. Cities will therefore need to plan for temperatures that make it difficult and exhausting for citizens to move around and work safely outdoors, as well as unbearable to stay indoors without airconditioning and sufficient ventilation. Ozone production is accelerated at high temperatures and short-term exposure to ozone has been linked to adverse health effects. High levels of ozone have also been related to exacerbated chronic lung disease and increased mortality rates (Bell et al., 2004). Children, the elderly, the sick, and the poor in urban areas are particularly vulnerable to persistent heat extremes during the hottest times of the year (Wilhelmi et al., 2004).

Direct heat stress is particularly harmful when nighttime temperatures are high. This prevents the human body from rest and regeneration as a rise in body temperature under heat wave conditions will severely decrease the heat loss needed to adjust internal mechanisms that regulate body temperature. Such conditions can lead to excessive strain on the body and ultimately cause heat illness and an increase in heat-excess related mortality and morbidity (Amengual et al., 2014). Indirect heatrelated effects on health arise through the interaction of heat and other environmental factors, particularly air and water pollution. For example, air pollutants and heat can cause higher ozone concentrations, which can irritate the respiratory system and reduce lung function. As a result, heat waves can cause heart attacks and aggravate asthma, bronchitis, and other cardiopulmonary diseases, leading to premature death (Franchini and Mannucci, 2015).

Given the complex interaction between heat extremes and the physiological factors outlined above, any city's heat action strategy will have to account for a broad range of causes and impacts in order to strengthen resilience to future extreme heat. In a warming world, it is critical that adaptation strategies are supported by wider efforts to improve urban infrastructure and services. A resilient city needs accessible and affordable healthcare, reliable public transport, uninterrupted electricity supplies, clean drinking water, and wellfunctioning sanitation systems. By reducing emissions, cities around the world can work together to make sure that the Future We Don't Want scenarios - where 1.6 billion people living in over 970 cities would be exposed to extreme temperatures by mid-century are not realised; while simultaneously planning for the possibility that they are.

E. URBAN RESPONSES TO EXTREME HEAT

The technical data analysis for extreme heat in The Future We Don't Want is supplemented with three case study examples from cities that are already facing high temperatures.

CASE STUDIES

Delhi, India



IMPACTS

ARC3.2 ClimateProjections - 2050sTemperature+1.5 to 3.3°CPrecipitation-13 to +28 percent

- In India, heatwave deaths have almost doubled over the past 20 years.
- Over 2,000 deaths were recorded during the North India heat wave of 2015.
- Outdoor workers and people in lowincome homes suffer the most during heat extremes. In homes with tinroofs, temperatures can cross 50°C (122°F), during heatwaves in Delhi.
- Spikes in heat-related afflictions lead to increased pressures on health services. Patients reporting dehydration, diarrhea and heat cramps almost double in hospitals during heat waves.
- 30 cities and 11 states in India have developed a "Heat Action Plan" that incorporates early warning systems, suggests changes in outdoor workhours, outlines improvements in health service responses, and promotes mass-media campaigns to sensitise communities.

SOLUTIONS

- Early warning systems alert residents and city officials one week before a heatwave, allowing city officials to plan their response.
- Mortality rates have dropped from 2,600 people in 2015 to less than 200 in 2017, owing to better coordinated action by the Meteorological and Disaster Management Departments.
- Delhi is the 12th city that will develop a Heat Action Plan in 2018.

Image Source: Edmund Gall, CC BY-SA 2.0

Seoul, South Korea



IMPACTS

ARC3.2 Climate Projections - 2050sTemperature+1.5 to 3.4°CPrecipitation+1 to +19 percent

- In Seoul, the minimum temperature during winter has increased at an average rate of 0.5°C per decade.
- During heatwave days, there is an 8.4 percent increase in total mortality compared to non-heatwave days.
- The first heatwave of the summer has had a larger estimated mortality effect than later heatwaves.
- During the 2013 heatwave, city authorities had to restrict use, and turn-off air conditioning in government buildings, to prevent a power outage.

UCCRN City • C40 City • Global Covenant City

SOLUTIONS

- Heatwave advisories are issued when temperature highs reach 33°C (91°F) for 2 consecutive days.
- Companies are advised to allow outdoor workers to take breaks during the hottest hours of the day.
- Cooling shelters are provided in public locations throughout the city, which allows residents without air conditioning to find respite from the heatwave.
- As a long-term effort to improve Seoul's resilience to heat, and other climate hazards, the city has planted 16 million trees and expanded its green space by 3.5 million m².

UCCRN City • C40 City

Page 15

Image Source: Ted's photos - Returns 02 March, visualhunt.com, CC BY-NC-SA

Berlin, Germany



IMPACTS

ARC 3.2 Climate Projections - 2050sTemperature+1.3 to 3.6°CPrecipitation-2 to +16 percent

- Days of extreme heat have become more common, leading to increased rates of mortality during intense heat waves.
- Rapid urbanisation and the growing number of elderly have increased the city's vulnerability to heat extremes.
- Heat-related mortality rates are particularly high in Berlin's most densely built-up districts.
- Extreme heat has also affected the transport system, for example, by making train carriages without proper ventilation too hot to use.

UCCRN City • C40 City • Global Covenant City

SOLUTIONS

- Berlin aims to become a 'Sponge City' that replaces hard surfaces with green space and water-permeable surfaces to combat the urban heat island effect as well as enable the city to adapt to heavy rains.
- By planting rooftops with mosses or grasses, the ability to absorb water increases while an evaporative cooling effect is achieved.
- Berlin has monitoring systems for climate change that aim to strengthen the resilience of ecosystems, public health and urban infrastructure.
- The city is working on improving communication to communities about upcoming risks and action.

Image Source: pixabay.com, CC0

HEAT EXTREMES OF AND POVERIS

Today

• Over 26 million people are living in poverty in more than 230 cities where they are regularly exposed to the hottest 3-month average maximum temperatures reaching at least 35°C (95°F).

By the 2050s

- Nearly 215 million people will be living in poverty in 495 cities where they will be regularly exposed to the hottest 3-month average maximum temperatures reaching at least 35°C (95°F).
- There will be an eight-fold increase in the number of people living in poverty in these extreme heat conditions compared to today.

A. INTRODUCTION AND JUSTIFICATION

Impacts of climate change differ among people and groups because of varying socio economic factors. People with lower incomes and limited assets; people who are discriminated on the basis of race, ethnicity, gender, age, poor health will be hit the hardest (Reckien et al., 2018). These social characteristics influence where people live and how severely they are affected. Impoverished populations are particularly vulnerable to climate change because they lack access to resources that could help them withstand extreme events. For example, during extended heat events, people living in poverty face additional risks compared to other populations because they may lack access to adequate drinking water, shelter, air conditioning, and medical assistance. As urban populations continue to grow, the number of people vulnerable to climate change will also also continue to rise.

B. METHODOLOGY

Extreme heat is defined in this analysis as the warmest 3-consecutive month period (defined using average monthly maximum temperature) in a given location. Climate scenarios are from the NASA Earth Exchange Global Daily Downscaled Projections (NEX-GDDP) dataset, prepared by the Climate Analytics Group and NASA Ames Research Center using the NASA Earth Exchange, and distributed by the NASA Center for Climate Simulation (NCCS). The NEX-GDDP dataset is made available by NASA to assist the science community in conducting studies of climate change impacts at local to regional scales, and to enhance public understanding of possible future global climate patterns at the spatial scale of individual towns, cities, and watersheds.

Using outputs from four global climate models (IPSL-CM5A-LR, MIROC-ESM-CHEM, GFDL-ESM2M, and NorESM1-M) in the NEX-GDDP dataset, monthly maximum temperatures were averaged over 3-consecutive months to find the hottest 3-month periods for each 0.25 by 0.25 degree grid cell. This analysis was conducted for both the historical model base period (1980-2005) as well as the future 2050s time frame (defined as 2041-2070).

A temperature threshold of 35°C (95°F) was applied to multi-model means across all grid cells to identify the urban areas most vulnerable to extreme heat with GIS software. The analysis was conducted for cities with populations greater than 100,000 during the base period or the 2050s. The historical and projected populations of cities (with populations greater than 100,000) that exceed the extreme heat threshold are summed to develop a global estimate of the urban population vulnerable to extreme heat during the base period and in the 2050s respectively.

Poverty rates are derived from national Urban Poverty Headcount Ratios developed by the World Bank, Global Poverty Working Group. Data are compiled from official government sources or are calculated by World Bank staff using national (i.e., country-specific) poverty definitions (World Bank, 2017). The Urban Poverty Headcount Ratio (i.e., national urban poverty rate) is the percentage of the urban population living below the national poverty line. This dataset includes poverty rates for 97 countries. The rate of poverty was applied to the total urban population estimates for the baseline and future periods in this analysis. The total urban population in poverty facing heat extremes was determined by applying national urban poverty rates to cities projected to be vulnerable to extreme heat in the 2050s.

C. DISCUSSION AND FINDINGS

Today, over 26 million people across 230 cities live in poverty and are regularly exposed to sustained high temperatures. As urban populations and average temperatures increase over the coming decades, the analysis estimates an 700 percent increase in the number of urban poor living in these extreme heat conditions. The projections indicate that over 215 million people will be living in poverty spanning across nearly 500 cities in the 2050s time period (Figure 4). In particular, cities in Southeast Asia as well as West Africa are particularly vulnerable to these changing conditions with high rates of poverty, rapid urbanisation, and already-existing high heat conditions.

Extreme Heat and Poverty

Baseline Period





Figure 4. Urban populations in poverty at risk to extreme heat. Data Source: Cities within countries for which the World Bank has developed national urban poverty ratios are shown (if they are at risk to extreme heat). Cities with a three-consecutive-month period where average maximum temperatures exceed 35°C (95°F) in the baseline period (top) are compared to those that are projected to experience these temperature extremes by the 2050s (bottom). Multi-model mean temperature is derived from the NASA NEX-GDDP dataset with four GCMs (IPSL-CM5A-LR, MIROC-ESM-CHEM, GFDL-ESM2M, and NorESM1-M); Average monthly (hottest three consecutive months) maximum temperature for 1980-2005 baseline period is compared to 2040-2071 under RCP 8.5; Population estimates in the baseline period are from the Natural Earth Dataset for cities over 100,000 residents, and population growth rates for the 2050s are derived by applying the growth rate from the Global Rural-Urban Mapping Project (GRUMP) urban population extents to cities within the Natural Earth Dataset. The same World Bank poverty rate in the baseline period is applied to the total projected urban population levels in the future time period to obtain a projected estimate of total urban residents in poverty in the 2050s.

D. IMPLICATIONS FOR CITIES

The Future We Don't Want research shows that, cities that face average summertime temperature highs of $35^{\circ}C$ ($95^{\circ}F$) by 2050, will also have significant proportions of their populations living in poverty. Booming population growth in cities in Africa and Asia will drive much of the increase in the numbers of urban poor exposed to high temperatures.

Social characteristics, such as low income; limited assets; and discrimination on the basis of minority status, race or ethnicity, sex and gender, age, poor health, and impaired mobility, influence where people live, and how severely they are affected by climate impacts (Reckien et al., 2018; Satterthwaite 2008; Williams et al., 2010). However, it is not just the most vulnerable who are impacted. Regularly occurring events can gradually undermine the resource base of more resilient groups in society, which ultimately leads to increases in the scale and depth of urban poverty (Tyler and Moench, 2012; Tompkins et al., 2013). The research also stresses that climate change will have a downward pull on the financial resources of many residents currently not considered to be especially poor. Should cities face extreme climate events more frequently, leaving little time for recovery, this could ultimately increase overall levels of urban poverty (Reckien et al., 2018; Tyler and Moench, 2012).

Differentials in the scale and nature of risks among informal settlements relate to the extent of infrastructure and services provision that is present in a given location. Differentials in risk, arising from inadequate or no infrastructure, and a lack of access to services, can emerge due to factors such as age, sex, and health status. For example, the 1991 cyclone in Bangladesh killed 138,000 people, many of whom were women older than 40 years (Dankelman et al., 2008). An analysis of the impacts of the 2011 floods in Lagos similarly revealed differences in vulnerability among low-income women based on gender relations and gender roles in household structure, occupation, and access to health care (Ajibade et al. 2013). Differentials in risk can also arise from the lack of voice for particular groups, such as informal settlers, and a lack of accountable government agencies in certain areas (Huq et al., 2007).

Many cities that are affected by higher than average climate change impacts also show particularly high growth rates; especially those in low-income countries of Asia and Africa where nearly 90 percent of the increase in urban population between now and 2050 is expected to take place (UNDESA, 2014). These demographic trends put ever-increasing numbers of people at risk from climate change and will potentially amplify equity and environmental justice issues. It is likely that rapid population growth in developing country cities will correspond with an increase in slum populations, which is often associated with unplanned and unregulated settlements in risk-prone areas (UN-Habitat, 2013; Revi et al., 2014). Currently, 62 percent of the population in Africa, and about 30 percent in Asia live in slums, and rapid urban growth poses a major challenge for city governments.

Mobilising resources to improve equity and environmental justice under changing climatic conditions requires the participation of impacted communities and the involvement of civil society. A key need is to learn how to tap non-traditional sources of finance, including partnerships with the private sector and community contributions. Governance also needs to be strengthened in regard to adherence to principles of transparency in spending, monitoring, and evaluation (Reyes 2013; Newell 2005).

Working with environmental justice groups can make an important contribution to increasing awareness, bringing equity issues to the forefront, and promoting the inclusion of equity into city plans and policies (Reckien et al., 2018). Particular attention should be paid to the need for equity between women and men because gender inequality is often overlooked in climate change studies, disaster-relief programmes, and mitigation and adaptation policies (Gencer et al., 2018).

If the Future We Don't Want scenarios are realised, and the number of urban poor in developing countries that are exposed to the worst heat extremes rise by around 200 million people by mid-century, it is important to remember that the poor are often best positioned to protect their neighbourhoods from worsening climate impacts. As the UN notes, "the urban poor have a proven capacity to improve and invest in their communities" (United Nations Momentum for Change, 2014). Cities that engage in an open dialogue with vulnerable communities can often find innovative, sustainable ways to build climate resilience (Rosenzweig et al., 2018). Ensuring that development policies and climate adaptation plans are developed not just with the poor in mind, but on board, is essential for climate policies to be effective over the long term.

E. URBAN RESPONSES

The technical data analysis for extreme heat and poverty in The Future We Don't Want is supplemented with three case study examples from cities that are already facing this scenario.

CASE STUDIES



Image Source: pixabay.com, CC0

Accra, Ghana



IMPACTS

ARC3.2 Climate Projections - 2050sTemperature+1.2 to 2.4°CPrecipitation-12 to +11 percentSea Level Rise+17 to 58 cm

- Dwellings in informal settlements with corrugated iron roofs get exceedingly hot during periods of extreme heat, which can cause heat-related illnesses.
- Many informal settlements are highly vulnerable to flooding, with water pouring into houses from above and below due to leaking roofs and a lack of drainage.
- Recurring climate impacts force residents of informal settlements to use their small savings for continuous repairs.

UCCRN City • C40 City • Global Covenant City

SOLUTIONS

- The People's Dialogue on Human Settlements is a project set up by a network of community-savings groups in poor neighbourhoods.
- The initiative has resulted in a series of joint projects between communities and the local government that aim to address urban poverty, unemployment, and homelessness.

Image Source: Ted's photos - Returns 02 March, visualhunt.com, CC BY-NC-SA

Lima, Perú



IMPACTS

ARC3.2 Climate Projections - 2050sTemperature+1.4 to 2.9°CPrecipitation-7 to +33 percentSea level Rise+14 to 55 cm

- Large-scale rural to urban migration over the past decades have caused many settlements to be built on desert plains, riverbeds, and steep hills, leaving them exposed to climate impacts such as heat, flooding, and landslides.
- 600,000 homes across the city are built in areas at high risk of negative climate impacts.
- When Lima suffered severe rainfall in 2017, it caused widespread flooding and triggered landslides. 210,000 homes were damaged or destroyed and 150,000 urban residents were displaced.

UCCRN City • C40 City • Global Covenant City

SOLUTIONS

- Through the programme Barrio Mío, a poverty map of the city has been developed, and priority is given to projects in underserved areas.
- As a result of Barrio Mío, 36,430 people have been trained in risk management and 315 community committees have been created.
- The city of Lima has also planted 42,600 trees to help stabilise hills and improve environmental quality and livability, including the restoration of public spaces.

WATER AVAILABILITY

By the 2050s

- Over 650 million people living in over 500 cities will be vulnerable to reduced freshwater availability in the 2050s due to declines in streamflow of 10 percent or more.
- Global water demand is expected to increase by 55 percent.

A. INTRODUCTION AND JUSTIFICATION

With respect to climate change, water is both a resource and a hazard. As a resource, good-quality water is basic to the well-being of the ever-increasing number of people living in cities. However, drought or excess precipitation can lead to hazards such as flood-related damage to physical assets, decreased water quality (with negative health consequences), and lack of adequate water flow for sewerage. As cities grow, demand and competition for limited clean water resources will therefore increase, and climate-linked impacts are very likely to make these pressures worse in urban areas across the globe (Vicuña et al., 2018).

.....

In response to warming, evaporation is projected to increase over most land surfaces globally, except primarily in southern Africa and Australia, where declines in soil moisture availability are sufficient to reduce overall evaporation (Collins et al., 2014). Net water deficits (i.e., evapotranspiration minus precipitation) are projected to increase over most subtropical to mid-latitude regions, and decline over the higher latitudes, with precipitation increases compensating for increases in evaporation caused by warming temperatures (Kirtman et al., 2014). In most regions where net deficits increase, run-off and recharge may be expected to decline such that water availability is likely to suffer. Even in regions where net deficits decline somewhat, the amount of run-off and recharge derived from each unit of precipitation will likely decline due to enhanced evapotranspiration (Das et al., 2011; Georgakakos et al., 2014).

Warming-induced declines in snowpack, glaciers, and less seasonally persistent snowpack (e.g., earlier snowmelt) are expected to change the timing of water availability for 70 percent of major rivers and for water supplies around the world that depend on mountain-based seasonal snows as their source (Vuviroli and Weingartner, 2008). This alters the natural storage of water from cooler seasons with low water demands to warm seasons when demands are commonly highest. This shift in the seasonal timing of water availability is expected to challenge water management systems in many parts of the world (Barnett et al., 2005; Oberts, 2007; Kenney et al., 2008; Wiley and Palmer, 2008; Meza et al., 2014; Buytaert and De Bièvre, 2012).

Climatic pressures will interact at different spatial scales and have a synergistic impact on water availability, which depends not only on the amount of water at different sources, but also on water quality, infrastructural integrity, arrangements among competing users, and strength of institutions. Governance systems have largely failed to adequately address the challenges that climate change poses to urban water security. Failure is often driven by a lack of coherent and responsive policy, limited technical capacity to plan for adaptation, limited resources to invest in projects, lack of coordination, and low levels of political will and public interest (Vicuña, et al., 2018).

B. METHODOLOGY

The purpose of this analysis is to explore and synthesise the current state of knowledge about the impact of climate change on renewable water resources at the global scale. The map shows cities that are located in areas where the multi-model ensemble mean of streamflow is projected to decline by at least 10 percent in the 2050s (2041-2070) compared to the baseline period (1980-2005). From the framework created by the Inter-Sectoral Impact Model Intercomparison Project (ISIMIP Fast Track), a set of two global hydrological models (GHMs) – JULES and LPJML – have been applied using bias-corrected forcing from four different global climate models (GCMs) – IPSL-CM5A-LR, MIROC-ESM-CHEM, GFDL-ESM2M, and NorESM1-M – under representative concentration pathway 8.5 (ISIMIP, 2018; Best et al., 2011; Bondeau et al., 2007).

ISIMIP offers a consistent framework for cross-sectoral, cross-scale modelling of the impacts of climate change. The key goal of ISIMIP is to contribute to the comprehensive (cross-sectoral) understanding of the impacts of politically and scientifically-relevant climate-change scenarios. The first ISIMIP simulation round, the ISIMIP Fast Track, ran from early 2012 until 2013, with a focus on providing cross-sectorally consistent projections of the impacts of different levels of global warming in the 21st century.

By using naturalised flows (i.e., modelled streamflow without the interference of man-made structures), it is possible to isolate the impact of climate change on water availability. Note that the Future We Don't Want analysis has not taken into account water resources available in man-made reservoirs, in underground water storages, or from desalination plants; nor did we include any infrastructure for the transfer of water between river basins. Water availability estimates utilised within this analysis should therefore be interpreted as conservative (i.e., lower-end estimate) (Veldkamp et al. 2016).

C. DISCUSSION AND FINDINGS

Half a billion people already face severe water scarcity all year round (Mekonnen and Hoekstra, 2016). In the 2050s, the analysis shows that 650 million people in over 500 cities may face more than a 10 percent decline in streamflow compared to present day levels (Figure 5). Due to the uncertainty around groundwater resources, globally we only consider streamflow (discharge) to assess water availability risks, even though some cities rely on both surface and groundwater extraction. We therefore systematically underestimate water availability, but one should keep in mind that groundwater extraction often occurs at higher rates than can be compensated for by natural recharge (Wada et al. 2010). Groundwater extraction, therefore, rarely corresponds to sustainable use of resources, and within the long-term focus of our study, surface water provides the main source for sustainable water consumption. The omission of groundwater therefore makes our assessment of water availability risk conservative (Orlowski et al. 2014).

By 2050, the global population is expected to reach nine billion, and global water demand is expected to increase by 55 percent (UNESCO, 2015). These projections put a considerable strain on existing water resources. The Future We Don't Want research now suggests that climate change will aggravate the problem dramatically. The findings show that urban areas of the Middle East and North India, as well as South America will be particularly vulnerable to reduced streamflow by the 2050s.



Decline in freshwater

2050s

Figure 5. Cities projected to experience at least a -10 percent decline in streamflow in the 2050s compared to current levels. Data source: Two GHMs (JULES and LPJmL) and four GCMS (IPSL-CM5A-LR, MIROC-ESM-CHEM, GFDL-ESM2M, NorESM1-M) utilised to develop a multi-model mean.

D. IMPLICATIONS FOR CITIES

Warmer temperatures result in a greater demand for water in many cities (Schleich and Hillenbrand, 2009). The extent of this temperature sensitivity, however, depends considerably upon climate, land use, and energy dependency within cities (Zhou et al., 2000; Ruth et al., 2007; O'Hara and Georgakakos, 2008; House-Peters and Chang, 2011; Almutaz et al., 2012; Breyer, 2014; Donkor et al., 2014; Stoker and Rothfeder, 2014). For example, climate change may have a larger impact in cities that are reliant on older, less water-efficient, and coal-based thermoelectric plants than in cities that rely on newer, more waterefficient, natural gas combined-cycle thermoelectric plants (Scanlon et al., 2013a, 2013b).

Cities often draw water from sources that are located much further away from their local water supply (McDonald et al., 2014). Therefore, urban water supply is highly dependent on climatic changes in surrounding areas, in addition to climate pressures on supplies located within cities.

Different water uses and users in urban settings have different requirements for water supply, wastewater, and sanitation. In urban centers, critical services like healthcare, food supply, transportation, energy systems, schools and retail share interdependencies with water. Projected deficits in the future of urban water supplies will likely have a major impact on both water availability and costs. Decisions taken now will have an important influence on future water supply for industry, domestic use, and agriculture.

Adaptation strategies for urban water resources will be unique to each city since they depend heavily on local conditions. Understanding the local context is therefore essential to adapting water systems in ways that address both current and future climate risks. A lack of urban water security, particularly in lower income countries, is an ongoing challenge. As a result, water scarcity is also often a catalyst for conflict. In South India, inter-state disputes on water sharing have repeatedly triggered riots (New Indian Express, 2016). A number of news reports now link recent protests and civil unrest in Iran to persistent water scarcity in the country, which, experts say, is linked to both climate change and poor water management (New York Times, 2018). Many cities struggle to deliver even basic services to their residents, especially those living in informal settlements. As cities grow, demand and competition for limited water resources will increase, and climate changes are likely to make these pressures worse in many urban areas. Acting now can minimise negative impacts in the long term. Master planning should anticipate projected changes over a time frame of more than 50 years. Yet, in the context of an uncertain future, finance and investment should focus on low-regret options that promote both water security and economic development, and policies should be flexible and responsive to changes and new information that come to light over time.

Urban governance systems will have to adequately address the challenges that climate change poses to urban water security. Doing so requires coherent and responsive policy, sufficient technical capacity to plan for adaptation, resources to invest in projects, coordination between and within governmental organisations, along with political will, public knowledge, and interest (Tanner et al., 2009).

Water availability is often the first casualty of any climate impact. If city governments do not act swiftly to meet their mitigation and adaptation commitments under the Paris Agreement, water scarcity affecting over half a billion people living in 500 cities would lead to cascading socioeconomic impacts, hurting urban economies and threatening their stability.

E. URBAN RESPONSES

It is important to develop adaptation measures that minimise the negative impact of water scarcity on the built, social, and ecological environments of cities.

CASE STUDIES



Image Source: PhotosThroughMyEyes on Visualhunt.com / CC BY-NC-SA

Tehran, Iran



IMPACTS

ARC3.2 Climate Projections - 2050sTemperature+1.9 to 3.6°CPrecipitation-12 to +11 percent

- In 2014, Tehran suffered a prolonged drought with annual rainfall estimated at below 80 percent of the long term average. Less precipitation, a growing population, and poor water management have led to a severe water crisis.
- Inadequate water distribution infrastructure and low water prices have resulted in urban over-consumption of water.
- In less than 25 years, 60 percent of the country's population risk needing to leave if current water conditions persist, according to Iran's former agriculture minister.

UCCRN City

SOLUTIONS

- Due to the lack of permanent surface water resources, several dams transfer water to Tehran.
- Alternative technological solutions (e.g., inter-basin water transfer and desalination) are being explored.
- In 2016, the Tehran government developed information-based advisories to try and change consumption patterns among residents and businesses.

São Paulo, Brazil



Image Source: Vanessa Bumbeers on unsplash.com

IMPACTS

ARC3.2 Climate Projections - 2050sTemperature+1.2 to 2.6°CPrecipitation-6 to +13 percent

- The water systems that are in place are not capable of ensuring the necessary flow in the medium and long term.
- When a prolonged drought hit Sāo Paulo in 2014, it affected all parts of the city, but impacted low-income communities in peripheral and high altitude settlements most significantly.
- Climate change may further impact water supply, stressing the city's water security.

UCCRN City • C40 City • Global Covenant City

SOLUTIONS

- During the drought in 2014, the state water utility, Sabesp, set up a reward scheme that incentivised reduced consumption, combined with information campaigns to encourage decreased water usage.
- Sabsep is now making structural changes, such as connecting various supply sources, setting up a Water Resources Fund and plugging inefficient pipelines.
- Long-distance channels to transport water are under construction, as are wells in the Guarani Aquifer and the transposition basins.
- The preservation of ecosystem services and biodiversity in the Tiete River Basin is further benefiting the water quality.
- Community based initiatives like Movimento Cisternas Já or "Cisterns Movement Now" aim to increase poor households' resilience to water shortages.

FOOD SECURITY

Singapor

Page 30

By the 2050s

 Around 2.5 billion people will be living in over 1,600 cities where national yields of a major crop are projected to decline by at least 10 percent below presentday levels.

A. INTRODUCTION AND JUSTIFICATION

Cities house more than half of the world's population, but produce very little of what is consumed. Cities, therefore, require complex systems to feed their growing populations. While much of the world's food supply comes from traded commodities, a high portion of the food consumed by urban dwellers comes from national sources. Since climate change is projected to result in crop yield declines in many parts of the world, these declines will affect the food security of many people living in cities (Rosenzweig et al., 2013).

Climate change raises concerns about agricultural production and its effects on urban populations through changes in food security. The four pillars of food security – its availability, accessibility, utilisation, and stability – will all be affected by projected changes in climate (Rosenzweig and Hillel, 2018). Declines in crop yields will decrease food availability in cities and affect its accessibility through increased prices (Porter et al., 2014; Nelson et al., 2014). The well-being of urban citizens will thus be affected in multiple ways.

As part of the Future We Don't Want analysis, an index has been developed that represents the number of people living in cities within a nation that is projected to undergo a 10 percent, or greater, decline in crop yields. The crops included in the index are maize, rice, soybean, and wheat.

B. METHODOLOGY

The Future We Don't Want analysis of the implications of climate change on urban food security examined projected national rain fed yield decline of the "Big Four Crops" – maize, rice, soybean, and wheat. Globally, these crops rank as the highest produced and consumed crops, and therefore are indicators of global food security. The projected change in the national rain fed yield for the most important crop (identified here as the crop with the most harvested area) in each country is assessed for this analysis. Only countries that have significant area (i.e., at least the 10th percentile of harvested area) dedicated to one of the big four crops are included in this analysis.

Figure 6 highlights the cities that are located in countries where national rain fed yields for the most important Big Four Crop is projected to decline by at least 10 percent by the 2050s compared to current rain fed yield levels. These model projections are produced as part of the Inter-Sectoral Impact Model Intercomparison Project (ISIMIP), in coordination with Agricultural Model Intercomparison and Improvement Project (AgMIP), using multiple global climate models (GCMs) under representative concentration pathway (RCP) 8.5, and multiple global gridded crop models (GGCMs), as part of the ISIMIP Fast Track project (Rosenzweig et al., 2013). AgMIP is a major international collaborative effort to improve the state of agricultural simulation and to understand climate impacts on the agricultural sector at global and regional scales (Rosenzweig et al., 2013).

Yield projections are developed with a 5 GGCM (PEGASUS, pDSSAT, GEPIC, LPG-GUESS, EPIC) / 4 GCM multi-model mean utilising four global climate models (IPSL-CM5A-LR, MIROC-ESM-CHEM, GFDL-ESM2M, and NorESM1-M); Spatial Production Allocation Model crop area estimates are utilised. The yield change is weighted based on the acreage of rain fed maize, wheat, rice, and soy production within each grid cell. The baseline period utilised is 1980-2005 while the future period projected is 2041-2070. Grid cells with less than 2 tons/ha/year of yield are not included in this analysis.

C. DISCUSSION AND FINDINGS

Food supply may become an increasing concern for urban residents over the coming decades. The Future We Don't Want analysis shows that 2.5 billion people will be living in cities where national yields of one of the four major global crops (maize, rice, soy, or wheat) will decline by at least 10 percent by the 2050s compared to present day levels. At the same time, agricultural output will need to increase by approximately 50 percent by 2050 to meet the demand of growing urban populations (Figure 6).

National Yield Decline in Maize, Rice, Soybean, and/or Wheat

2050s



Figure 6. Cities that are located in countries where national rainfed yield of maize, rice, soybean, and/or wheat is projected to decline by at least -10 percent below current levels by the 2050s.

Data source: Multi-model man yield projections are developed with 6 GGCMs (LPJmL, PEGASUS, pDSSAT, GEPIC, LPG-GUESS, and EPIC) and 4 GCMs utilising four global climate models (IPSL-CM5A-LR, MIROC-ESM-CHEM, GFDL-ESM2M, and NorESM1-M); Spatial Production Allocation Model crop area estimates are utilised; Yield change weighted based on the acreage of rainfed maize, wheat, rice, and soy production within .5 degree grid cell.

D. IMPLICATIONS FOR CITIES

With increasing urbanisation, cities need to address the triple challenge of mitigating climate emissions, adapting to climate change, and providing basic services, including food, to residents. The world is already seeing the effects of climate change, with global average temperatures being 1 degree centigrade warmer than before the industrial revolution. The results are bigger variations in rainfall, droughts, and other extreme events that have impacted agricultural output and quality.

Should crop yields decline and prices rise in line with the Future We Don't Want forecast, it will amount to a significant challenge for residents and local authorities in cities around the world. Urban populations are expected to rise, especially in developing countries, between now and 2050. Hence, estimates suggest that agricultural production will need to increase by between 50 to 60 percent in order to provide sufficient food by 2050 (Reardon, 2016).

In a world where climate change will have more significant and unpredictable impacts everywhere, and where the competition over water resources, declining harvests, as well as between domestic consumption and agricultural exports will increase, urban food supply systems must factor in a range of climate disruptions that can quickly lead to food shortages.

Climate change can affect agricultural production and urban food security in several ways. Drought and rainfall that is not aligned to the agricultural growing season, can result in water shortages that result in crop failures, and increasing urban food prices. This will have especially negative consequences for lowincome populations.

Food scarcity can also lead to conflict. When the price of staple crops like wheat, maize, and rice rose substantially between 2007 and 2008, it sparked unrest in many countries. In Bangladesh, thousands of workers rioted near Dhaka and there were instances of protests in fifteen countries across Africa, South America and Asia owing to food price hikes (Reuters, 2008).

Poor urban consumers are extremely sensitive to price variations caused by climatic impacts on food production and/or distribution because they rarely produce their own food (Porter et al., 2014). Given price increases, families may therefore be forced to either limit the quantity or quality of food consumed, with strong potential impacts for human health. Women are likely to be disproportionately impacted because they often belong to the poorest of the poor, representing 70 percent of the 1.3 billion poor worldwide. Women are especially prone to reduce food intake compared with other family members, if food is scarce and/or expensive. Currently, 50 percent of the women and children in developing countries are anemic (GGCA, 2009). As for children, food scarcity and malnourishment can cause wasting or stunting.

The future upscaling of urban agriculture will need new urban design concepts and the development of city plans that recognise urban agriculture as an accepted, permitted, and encouraged form of land use. While cities need to take a leading role in coordinating this shift in agriculture as it relates to the city, the involvement of regional or provincial governments are key since they can address agriculture and land-use planning at larger scales, facilitate access to financing, and develop regional policies that accompany city-level strategies.

In a world characterised by rising temperatures, droughts, variations in precipitation, and other extreme climate events, ensuring food security is a matter of health, public security and social justice. As climate impacts become more apparent, urban food systems need to become more resilient and city governments have a significant stake in ensuring that they are.

E. URBAN RESPONSES

The technical data analysis for food security in The Future We Don't Want is supplemented with three case study examples from cities that are already addressing some of these issues.

CASE STUDIES

Medellín, Colombia **IMPACTS** SOLUTIONS **ARC3.2 Climate Projections - 2050s** • The city government is working to Temperature +1.4 to +2.8°C strengthen regional rural-urban supply -4 to +14 percent Precipitation chains. Medellín is vulnerable to market • By establishing food markets in poor fluctuations and supply-chain neighborhoods, that are managed by disruptions. local associations, low-income urban consumers are connected to low-• Heavy rainfall can cause mudslides income rural suppliers. that impacts the transportation of agricultural products into Medellín, • New urban food markets provide access to local, organic produce at resulting in shortages and higher controlled prices. prices. Droughts have raised the prices of • Medllín's programme has enabled basic goods such as milk. small-scale peri-urban farmers to provide produce and reduce Poorer neighbourhoods are transportation and distribution costs. particularly vulnerable by high prices and have limited access to high quality · New distribution centers and produce. monitoring systems have been established to match supply and demand of specific goods.

Image Source: flickr.com/ david peña CC BY-SA 2.0

Paris, France



IMPACTS

ARC3.2 Climate Projections - 2050sTemperature+1.3 to 3.2°CPrecipitation-6 to +8 percent

- Paris is susceptible to heat extremes and flooding.
- Over the coming decades, Paris expects greater competition for water sources in the North of France from other regions, as well as from agriculture and industry.
- The city aims to decrease its exposure to climate shocks, at home and abroad, and safeguard its long-term water supply while reducing agricultural emissions.

UCCRN City • C40 City • Global Covenant City

SOLUTIONS

- Paris engaged external experts in a year-long survey to assess its vulnerabilities and opportunities with regard to climate change and resources depletion (water, energy, food, biodiversity).
- Paris aims to use its procurement more strategically to influence food security and sustainable agriculture while reducing emissions.
- The city has established low-cost markets for locally grown, organic produce.
- Paris plans to establish 33 hectares of urban agriculture within the city's boundaries by 2020. By 2050, 25 percent of the city's food supply will be produced in the Île-de-France region.

Image Source: Photo by Anthony DELANOIX on Unsplash

Quito, Ecuador



IMPACTS

ARC3.2 Climate Projections - 2050sTemperature+1.3 to 2.6°CPrecipitation-4 to +19 percent

- In recent years, extreme weather events have affected Ecuador's infrastructure, neighbourhoods, agriculture, and forests, while the loss of glaciers and highland ecosystems have impacted food security, water, and hydropower supplies.
- Quito has experienced rapid population growth and low-density sprawl, which has resulted in increased food scarcity among poorer communities that live further away from the city's basic service net.

UCCRN City • C40 City • Global Covenant City

SOLUTIONS

- Quito adopted a Climate Change Strategy in 2009, followed by an Action Plan in 2012 that addresses adaptation and mitigation in an integrated way.
- The programme AGRUPAR (Agricultura Urbana Participativa, 2018) aims to strengthen the management skills and micro-enterprises of Quito's urban farmers (Conquito, 2018). AGRUPAR provides seeds and seedlings, as well as free spaces within the city where local farmers can sell their produce.
- Quito's goal is to produce 30-40 percent of its food locally over the next few decades, mostly in the region's rural areas.

Image Source: MastaBaba on Visual hunt / CC BY-NC

COASTAL FLOODING AND SEA LEVE RISE

By the 2050s

• Over 800 million people will be living in more than 570 coastal cities that are at risk to at least 0.5 metres of sea level rise and coastal flooding.

.....

A. INTRODUCTION AND JUSTIFICATION

Sea level rise coupled with rapid urban development have significantly amplified risks in coastal cities. Coastal settlements are susceptible to climate hazards such as sea level rise, storm surges, shoreline erosion, and saltwater intrusion. Ten percent of the world's total population and 13 percent of the urban population resides in Low Elevation Coastal Zones, defined as contiguous land areas along the coast that are within 10 metres of sea level. (McGranahan et al., 2007). The majority of megacities are coastal and vital to shipping, fisheries, and international commerce (UNDESA, 2012). Rising sea levels threaten increasing coastal populations, critical infrastructure, and valuable assets that lie within coastal floodplains.

Global sea level rose by approximately 1.7 mm/yr between 1900–2010 (Wong et al., 2014; IPCC, 2013). Since 1993, both satellites and tide gauges register a sea level rise of about 3.2 mm/year (IPCC, 2013; Masters et al., 2012). Globally, many cities face faster local sea level rise than the global average due to subsidence caused by sediment compaction and groundwater withdrawal (Syvitski et al., 2009).

B. METHODOLOGY

In the Future We Don't Want analysis, coastal cities most vulnerable to sea level rise were defined as those which had any portion of their GRUMP urban extent area falling within 10 km of the coast, and that had an average elevation of less than 5 metres. Only cities that are projected to experience at least 0.5 metres of sea level rise or more by the 2050s under a high end RCP 8.5 scenario relative to the 2000-2004 base period were selected for the analysis.

The model-based components of the sea level rise projections are the ensemble mean of three global climate models (IPSL-CM5A-LR, MIROC-ESM-CHEM, and NorESM1-M) at a 1 degree grid scale. These components are part of a four-component approach that incorporates both local and global factors related to changes in ocean height (local), thermal expansion (global), loss of ice from glaciers, ice caps, and land-based ice sheets (global) and land water storage (global) (Bader et al., 2018). Cities were selected if any of the neighboring grid cells near the city were identified as experiencing at least 0.5 metres of sea level rise by the 2050s. To determine average elevation, the GMTED Global Grids elevation dataset at a spatial resolution of 15 arc-seconds of longitude and latitude is utilised. The number of people vulnerable to coastal flooding and sea level rise in urban areas in the 2050s is determined by tallying the total projected urban population of all global coastal cities vulnerable to 0.5 metres of sea level rise.
2050s

C. DISCUSSION AND FINDINGS

Approximately 800 million people living in more than 570 coastal cities are projected to experience at least 0.5 metres of sea level rise by the 2050s under a high greenhouse gas emissions scenario (Figure 7). This risk is not particularly unique to any one region of the globe. Rather, sea level rise and coastal flooding can impact coastal cities across the globe. As populations in these areas continue to grow, governments will need to protect its citizens and the infrastructure vulnerable to climate-linked coastal impacts.

Sea level rise 0.5 metres



Figure 7. Cities projected to experience at least 0.5 metres of sea level rise by the 2050s under RCP8.5.

Data source: Projections are shown for the 2050s under the high end RCP 8.5 scenario relative to the 2000–2004 baseline period. The model-based components are the ensemble mean of three global climate models (IPSL-CM5A-LR, MIROC-ESM-CHEM, and NorESM1-M) and are accompanied by a four-component approach that incorporates both local and global factors related to changes in ocean height (local), thermal expansion (global), loss of ice from glaciers, ice caps, land-based ice sheets (global), and land water storage (global).

D. IMPLICATIONS FOR CITIES

Major coastal cities often locate valuable assets along the waterfront or within the 100-year flood zone, including port facilities, transport and utilities infrastructure, schools, hospitals, and other longlived structures. These assets are potentially at risk from both short-term flooding and permanent inundation. Estimates suggest that the global economic costs to cities, from rising seas and inland flooding could amount to \$1 trillion annually by midcentury (Hallegatte et al., 2013). By the 2070s, asset exposure to climate change could increase more than tenfold and encompass approximately 9 percent of projected global GDP due to the combined effects of sea level rise, land subsidence, population growth, and increasing urbanisation.

Urban centers built on low-lying deltas are especially vulnerable as higher coastal storm surges will pose a greater risk to life and property. The surge-related threat will be exacerbated by rising sea levels, because a higher sea level will allow storm surges to reach further inland. These risks are exacerbated in many coastal cities by land subsidence (i.e., land sinking) caused by groundwater overdraft and sediment compaction. Jakarta, for example, is especially susceptible to sea level rise and high tides since it is also experiencing one of the fastest land subsidence rates in the world. The digging of illegal wells is emptying out the city from below, while the weight of urban sprawl adds additional pressure, causing the land to sink by 25 cm per year (Simarmata et al., no date).

Moreover, sea level rise-induced saltwater intrusion upstream and into coastal aquifers can jeopardise urban drinking water supplies and contaminate agricultural soils. Sea level rise can also increase the risk of groundwater flooding. A rise in sea level will simultaneously raise water tables, saturate the soil, expand wetlands, and increase flooding during heavy rainfall events (Rotzoll and Fletcher, 2013). High waves and/or water levels during intense storms can cause beach erosion and retreating shorelines. Around developed areas, such erosion can disrupt sediment movements and result in a coastal squeeze, with associated loss of land and environmental degradation. A long-term integrated approach to coastal management and inclusive governance is essential to adapt to climate change impacts and manage cities in the coastal zone (Nicholls et al., 2015). Actions to reduce exposure to natural hazards include moving people and infrastructure out of harm's way, building "hard" engineering protection (e.g., the Maeslantkering and Delta Work storm surge barrier in The Netherlands) and "soft" solutions (e.g., planting and protecting mangroves and other natural vegetation (Möller et al., 2014). Other adaptive strategies include accommodating structures and lifestyles to a more aquatic presence, and it may ultimately become impossible to protect further development in extremely high-risk areas.

Sea level rise and coastal flooding will have diverse impacts based on a city's geography, urban development patterns, economic make-up, and social structure. Despite these variations, however, the broader experience of sea level rise and coastal flooding under a high greenhouse gas emissions scenario will be shared by over 570 cities throughout the world, from Miami to Guangzhou to Mumbai. In cities that are rich and poor, dense and sprawling, hot and cold, the Future We Don't Want research shows that unabated climate change will expose 800 million people and trillions of dollars in assets (Hallegatte, S. et al., 2013) to ever harsher and more frequent climate hazards.

E. URBAN RESPONSES

The technical data analysis for sea level rise and coastal flooding in The Future We Don't Want is supplemented with three case study examples from cities which are already facing rising seas.

CASE STUDIES

New York City, USA UCCRN City • C40 City • Global Covenant City **IMPACTS SOLUTIONS ARC3.2 Climate Projections - 2050s** • New York City has established an Temperature +1.7 to 3.7°C independent panel of scientists called the New York City Panel on Climate Precipitation +1 to +13 percent Sea level rise +16 to 71 cm Change (NPCC) that advises the Mayor's office on climate change • Critical city assets lie along the projections specific to the region. waterfront or within the 100-year flood zone. • The city is improving coastal flood mapping, updating and refining local Coastal wetlands that serve as a climate projections, and strengthening buffer against storm surges have coastal defenses. deteriorated within the past few decades, increasing New York • Smaller, strategically placed local storm City's vulnerability. surge barriers are being built around New York City. • The city's poor, aged, and disabled citizens are more vulnerable and less • New design guidelines that account for able to cope with natural disasters. resilience to future climate impacts have been developed. • Hurricane Sandy in 2012 acted ass a wake up call that the city's coastal • A city task force has been established to better engage community organisations residents and assets are at risk to climate change. in city-preparedness planning.

Image Source: Stig Ottesen on Unsplash

Dar es Salaam, Tanzania



IMPACTS

ARC3.2 Climate Projections – 2050s Temperature: +1.2 to 2.1°C **Precipitation:** -14 to +13 percent Sea Level Rise: +15 to 60 cm

- 70 percent of the city's population lives in informal settlements.
- 8 percent of the city lies below sea level.
- Rapid population growth of 5.3 percent per year has expanded informal settlements in flood-prone areas.
- Residents' vulnerability is heightened by inadequate storm water drainage, sewage and piping systems that cause public health hazards during floods.
- Flooding disrupts the city's transport system and causes regular blackouts, resulting in economic losses.

UCCRN City • C40 City • Global Covenant City

SOLUTIONS

- Dar es Salaam is developing methodologies for designing adaptation initiatives.
- Policies are being developed to support coastal peri-urban dwellers, who depend on natural resources, in their efforts to adapt to climate change.
- The city has formalised property rights in low-risk areas to incentivise residents in high-risk areas to relocate.
- Dar es Salaam is also improving local services in more vulnerable areas, such as strengthening stormwater drainage, water supply, waste collection and transport links, to reduce vulnerability.

Jakarta, Indonesia



Image Source: flickr.com/ Ferry Octavian (CC BY-NC-ND 2.0)

IMPACTS

ARC3.2 Climate Projections - 2050sTemperature+1.2 to 2.5°CPrecipitation-11 to +12 percentSea Level Rise+14 to 58 cm

- The northern coast of Jakarta is at risk of flooding from sea level rise, high tides, and extreme rainfall.
- Close to 90 percent of the metropolitan region already lies below sea level.
- Jakarta is experiencing one of the fastest land-subsidence rates in the world due to the digging of illegal wells and weight of urban development.
- More than 60 percent of Jakarta's population lives in informal settlements, Kampungs, that are vulnerable to flooding.

UCCRN City • C40 City • Global Covenant City

SOLUTIONS

- Jakarta is developing a Sea Defense Wall Master Plan.
- Adaptive building regulations and integrated disaster evacuation spaces are being developed.
- The city plans to relocate close to 400,000 residents from riverbanks and reservoirs through the "Socially Inclusive Climate Adaptation for Urban Resilience" project.
- Jakarta encourages competition between local community leaders to upgrade and expand green spaces through the Kampung Climate initiative, which will allow water-levels to recede more rapidly faster after flooding.
- The city is capitalising on residents' existing knowledge and experience of flood impacts, without having to spend additional government funds on external expertise and costly risk assessments.

SEALEVEL RISEARD ENERGY SUPPLY

By the 2050s

- Over 450 million people will be living in more than 230 cities in which nearby power supply will be vulnerable to at least 0.5 metres of sea level rise under a high greenhouse gas emissions scenario.
- By 2050, 270 power plants producing a total of 182,902 megawatts electricity will be vulnerable to at least 0.5 metres of sea level rise.
- Energy disruptions in cities can impact electricity, heating, healthcare, water, transportation, and other critical services.
- Coastal energy infrastructure is particularly vulnerable to climate change.

A. INTRODUCTION AND JUSTIFICATION

Urban energy systems are both directly and indirectly vulnerable to climate change impacts, including the effects of heatwaves, drought, and flooding. Sea level rise poses a particular risk to power supply, because infrastructure systems that are built to support energy networks are often in place for decades. As sea levels continue to rise, power plants located along the coast will be increasingly vulnerable to coastal flooding. Many cities depend on energy from power plants located in these low-lying coastal regions. Flooding to power generation, transmission, and distribution networks can lead to cascading impacts on urban residents and key infrastructure systems. Once in place, power networks are expensive to relocate and, depending on land use decisions in the metropolitan region, it may not be feasible. Understanding the risks that sea level rise will pose to power networks before new infrastructure is put in place can help limit costs for repairs or relocation in the coming decades, as coastal flooding events become more frequent.

B. METHODOLOGY

The Future We Don't Want analysis pertaining to the sea level rise and energy supply is focused on cities near power plants that may be vulnerable to at least 0.5 metres of sea level rise in the 2050s. Only power plants that are located at an average elevation below 5 metres were identified using the GMTED Global Grids elevation dataset at a spatial resolution of 15 arc-seconds of longitude and latitude. Using the Knoema power plant data set (Knoema, 2016), all power plants within 5 km from the coast that fall within the 5 metres elevation threshold and whose neighboring grid cell in the 2050s is projected to experience at least 0.5 metres of sea level rise relative to the 2000-2004 base period under a high end RCP8.5 greenhouse gas emissions scenario were identified. Cities whose GRUMP urban extent boundaries are located within 50 km of power plants that met this criteria were then identified, and the total urban population then calculated.

The model-based components of the sea level rise projections are a combination of the ensemble mean of three global climate models (IPSL-CM5A-LR, MIROC-ESM-CHEM, and NorESM1-M) at a 1 degree grid scale and a four-component approach that incorporates both local and global factors related to changes in ocean height (local), thermal expansion (global), loss of ice from glaciers, ice caps, land-based ice sheets (global), and land water storage (global).

C. DISCUSSION AND FINDINGS

There are 270 power plants, located close to cities, producing a total of 182,902 megawatts of energy which are vulnerable to at least 0.5 metres of sea level rise by the 2050s. These power plants will potentially provide power for over 450 million people and more than 230 cities (Figure 8). While many coastal power plants are at risk of flooding from sea level rise, the Future We Don't Want analysis highlights urban areas where nearby power supply is most vulnerable by limiting the analysis to power plants that are located in regions where at least 0.5 metres of sea level rise is projected to occur under a high emissions scenario by mid-century. The results show that cities in Asia, Europe, and the east coast of North America have nearby power supplies that lie in areas that may be particularly susceptible to higher than average sea level rise.

Sea level rise and power plants

2050s



Figure 8. Cities whose nearby power plants are vulnerable to coastal flooding as a result of 0.5 metres of sea level rise in the 2050s.

Data source: Knoema World Power Plant Database, 2016; CMIP5. Projections are shown for the 2050s under the high end RCP 8.5 scenario relative to the 2000–2004 baseline period. The model-based components are the ensemble mean of three global climate models (IPSL-CM5A-LR, MIROC-ESM-CHEM, and NorESM1-M) and are accompanied by a four-component approach that incorporates both local and global factors related to changes in ocean height (local), thermal expansion (global), loss of ice from glaciers, ice caps, land-based ice sheets (global), and land water storage (global). Map re lects power plants that are located at an elevation below 5 metres, less than 5 km from coast, and less than 10 km from a sea level rise grid cell greater than or equal to 0.5 metres in the 2050s time frame.

D. IMPLICATIONS FOR CITIES

Energy supply is intrinsic to global economic and social progress and is a critical component of urban security and resilience. Cities in particular, account for more than 75 percent of global primary energy use and have the most to lose from climatelinked energy disruptions (UN Habitat, 2012). Such disruptions in cities can affect the provision of electricity, transportation, water, healthcare and other critical services, and cause cascading failures across the entire economy of a city and a country.

In the coming decades, rapid population growth, urbanisation, and climate change will intensify stresses on existing and planned energy infrastructure. Going forward, energy choices will need to factor local air quality, greenhouse gas emissions, energy equity, energy security, and climate resilience. Local governments will need to conduct vulnerability assessments and plan for varied climate events and their impacts on the energy supply chain.

Coastal energy infrastructure is particularly vulnerable to climate change. More frequent extreme weather events such as hurricanes, storm surges, and coastal flooding are expected to result in recurring energy disruptions to the power network, decreased reliability of production and transmission, higher costs for cities and consumers, and in the long run, stranded energy assets that dot the shores of increasingly exposed coasts (Azevedo de Almeida and Mostafavi, 2016). Across the world more than 6,700 power generation plants, accounting for almost 15 percent of power generation in 2009, are located within the Low Elevation Coastal Zone. Areas heavily dependent on different types of biomass as primary energy feedstocks may also be vulnerable if sea level rise affects the availability of material. Oil and gas drilling operations and refineries in coastal areas are also susceptible to extreme events, including flooding and high winds.

Energy supply is a critical resilience priority; if energy systems fail, they add additional stresses on the ability to provide potable water supply, food, transportation, sanitation, communications, and health care, etc. Energy supply disruptions can lead to cascading failures across the economy, impacting the functioning of the government, businesses, and local communities. For example, this level of extreme disruption of power loss on the community was seen in Puerto Rico following Hurricane Maria in 2017. Similarly, better access to electricity can lower costs for businesses, increase trade and investment, drive economic growth, and help reduce poverty. To prevent destabilising disruptions to electricity supply that can, in turn, impact public transport, water, and healthcare systems; cities need to assess their local risks and plan for climate resilient energy systems.

E. URBAN RESPONSES

It is important to develop adaptation measures that will minimise the negative impact that extreme climate events can have in the built, social, and ecological environment. The technical data analysis for impacts of climate change on energy supply for urban areas in The Future We Don't Want is supplemented with three case study examples from cities that are already facing this challenge.

CASE STUDIES

Seattle, Washington



IMPACTS

ARC3.2 Climate Projections - 2050sTemperature+1.4 to 3.7°CPrecipitation-3 to +10 percentSea Level Rise+14 to 56 cm

- Seattle's hydropower is vulnerable to variability in the supply of water from mountain snowpack, earlier and faster spring melt of mountain snowpack, and reduced summer river levels.
- Climatic change has reversed the energy demand trajectory in the city; there is less demand in the winter for heating, and more demand in the summer for cooling.
- Higher energy demand in the summer and de-rating of the overhead lines leads to reduced transmission capacity.
- A climate vulnerability assessment by local energy utility, Seattle City Light, projects increased risks for energy supply from sea level rise and tidal flooding. This could result in equipment damage, frequent transmission and distribution outages, and "financial consequences" for the utility.

UCCRN City • C40 City • Global Covenant City

SOLUTIONS

- Seattle City Light is the first large electric utility in the U.S to become carbon neutral, and it is developing a utility-wide adaptation plan.
- Seattle is leveraging existing tools to plan for hydro-climatic variability and prepare for high winds and storms.
- A rate stabilisation fund is being established and the city is installing new equipment built to withstand landslides and lightning.
- A newly introduced building efficiency programme in Seattle aims to reduce 81,000 metric tons of greenhouse gas emissions from the building sector.

London, United Kingdom



IMPACTS

ARC 3.2 ClimateProjections - 2050sTemperature+1.0 to 2.7°CPrecipitation-4 to +10 percentSea level rise+17 to 70 cm

- London lies in the Low Elevation Coastal Zone and faces risks of tidal flooding from the North Sea, fluvial flooding from the Thames and its tributaries, and surface water flooding due to heavy rainfall.
- The city is also vulnerable to overheating and drought-like conditions.
- Hotter summers increase the demand for mechanical cooling, resulting in higher energy demand.
- The United Kingdom's nuclear, coal, and oil and gas fired power stations are located along the coast and are vulnerable to tidal flooding, which can, in turn impact London's power supply. London also has electricity substations that are vulnerable to local flooding.
- Climate impacts put assets worth £200 billion at risk, as well as 1.25 million people living along the Thames river in London and surrounding areas.

UCCRN City • C40 City • Global Covenant City

SOLUTIONS

- London is supporting the development of decentralised energy systems, including the use of low carbon and renewable energy, and energy generated from waste.
- The city is reducing the energy consumption of existing building stock and moving towards zero emission transport.
- The city has developed its Sustainable Drainage Action Plan to improve city-wide drainage infrastructure to withstand heavy flooding.
- The draft London Environment Strategy and the draft London Plan focus, among other things, on, tackling extreme weather events and interdependencies across multiple sectors.

Image Source: pixabay.com

Rio de Janeiro, Brazil



IMPACTS

ARC 3.2 ClimateProjections - 2050sTemperature+1 to 2.1°CPrecipitation-14 to +10 percentSea level rise+15 to 56 cm

- Around 70 percent of Brazil's energy comes from hydropower plants and most of Rio de Janeiro's power comes from the central grid.
- Climate projections indicate that drought-like conditions in the summer can lead to electricity shortages as the hydropower supply is sensitive to water disruptions.
- Coastal surges and heavy precipitation events could result in more intense disruptions in the future, with cascading impacts in other critical sectors.
- Brazil's only nuclear plant is located along the coast, and susceptible to tidal flooding.

UCCRN City • C40 City • Global Covenant City

SOLUTIONS

- The city is looking to source more of its energy from decentralised renewable sources to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, lessen its dependency on water intensive energy sources, and reduce its vulnerability to droughts and sea level rise.
- One of the key objectives of the city's resilience plan is to develop and implement a solar energy strategy.
 Solar thermal systems are mandatory for new and renovated buildings (Global Solar Thermal Energy Council).
- Government policies range from energy loss prevention to emission reduction through local government operations.
- Light Sociedade Anónima (Light S.A.) has formalised a smart grid program to implement remote metering solutions in its concession area.
- The Inova Energia programme supports the development of smart city pilots in the country.

Image Source: Agustín Diaz on Unsplash

SUMMARY

By the 2050s, cities across the globe will be faced with broad challenges as a result of climate change. More people will be at risk to these impacts as urban populations more than double from 1.4 billion people today to over 3.5 billion people by mid-century. Key findings from the Future We Don't Want analysis show that millions of urban residents will be vulnerable to changing climate conditions and thousands of urban decision makers will need to make their cities more resilient to withstand these challenges.

The Future We Don't Want research was conducted to highlight what cities need to be prepared for over the next three decades, according to the best available science. There are six key findings for cities across the globe:

By the 2050s,

- 1. Over 1.6 billion people, living in more than 970 cities, will face sustained extreme heat conditions of over 35°C (95°F) for 3 consecutive months.
- 2. Nearly 215 million highly vulnerable people, living in poverty in more than 230 cities, will face sustained extreme heat conditions over 35°C (95°F) for 3 consecutive months.
- 3. Over 650 million people, living in more than 500 cities, may face at least a 10 percent decline in freshwater availability from streamflow.
- 4. Over 2.5 billion people, living in more that 1,600 cities, may face at least a 10 percent decline in national yields of major crops.
- 5. Over 800 million people, living in more than 570 coastal cities, will be at risk of coastal flooding from at least 0.5 metres of sea level rise.
- 6. Over 450 million people will be living in more than 230 cities, where nearby power supply is at risk of coastal flooding from at least 0.5 metres of sea level rise.

While these six areas are not the only vulnerabilities that cities will encounter as a result of climate change, these findings highlight significant risks for people in urban areas in the coming decades. As shown by examples in the case studies throughout this report, city leaders are already taking action to deal with these risks. The scientific foundation that The Future We Don't Want offers allows cities to see within what time-frames they should be preparing for particular risks.

REFERENCES

Ajibade, I., McBean, G., & Bezner-Kerr, R. (2013). Urban flooding in Lagos, Nigeria: Patterns of vulnerability and resilience among women. Global Environmental Change, 23(6), 1714-1725.

Almutaz, I., Ajbar, A., Khalid, Y., and Ali, E. (2012). A probabilistic forecast of water demand for a tourist and desalination dependent city—Case of Mecca, Saudi Arabia. Desalination 294, 53–59.

Amengual, A., Homar, V., Romero, R., Brooks, H., Ramis, C., and Alonso,S. (2014). Projections of heat waves with high impact on human healthin Europe. Global and Planetary Change 3, 71–84.

Araz News, "join "I am Urmia Lake" campaign" (2016). http://araznews.org/en/archives/5955

Azevedo de Almeida, B., & Mostafavi, A. (2016). Resilience of infrastructure systems to sea-level rise in coastal areas: Impacts, adaptation measures, and implementation challenges. Sustainability, 8(11), 1115.

Bader, D. A., Blake, R., Grimm, A., Hamdi, R., Kim, Y., Horton, R., and Rosenzweig, C. (2018). Urban climate science. In Rosenzweig, C., W. Solecki, P. Romero-Lankao, S. Mehrotra, S. Dhakal, and S. Ali Ibrahim (eds.), Climate Change and Cities: Second Assessment Report of the Urban Climate Change Research Network. Cambridge University Press. New York. 27–60.

Barnett, T. P., Adam, J. C., and Lettenmaier, D. P. (2005). Potential impacts of a warming climate on water availability in snow-dominated regions: Nature 438, 303–309.

Bell, M. L., McDermott, A., Zeger, S. L., Samet, J. M., & Dominici, F. (2004). Ozone and short-term mortality in 95 US urban communities, 1987-2000. Jama, 292(19), 2372-2378.

Best MJ, et al. (2011) The Joint UK Land Environment Simulator (JULES), model description Part 1: Energy and water fluxes. Geoscientific Model Development 4(3): 677–699.

Bondeau A, et al. (2007) Modelling the role of agriculture for the 20th century global terrestrial carbon balance. Glob Change Biol 13(3):679–706.

Breyer, E. Y. (2014). Household Water Demand and Land Use Context—A Multilevel Approach. Master's thesis (paper 1670), Portland State University. Accessed: http://pdxscholar.library.pdx.edu/open_access_etds/1670/

Bruckner, T., Bashmakov, I. A., Mulugetta, Y., Chum, H., De la Vega Navarro, A., Edmonds, J., Faaij, A., Fungtammasan, B., Garg, A., Hertwich, E., Honnery, D., Infeld, D., Kainuma, M.,Khennas, S. Kim, S., Bashir Nimir, B., Riahi, K., Strachan, N., Wiser, R., and Zhang, X. (2014). Energy systems. In Edenhofer, O., Pichs-Madruga, R., Sokona, Y., Farahani, E., Kadner, S., Seyboth, K., Adler, A., Baum, I., Brunner, S., Eickemeier, P., Kriemann, B., Savolainen, J., Schlömer, S., von Stechow, C., Zwickel, T., and Minx, J. C. (eds.), Climate Change 2014: Mitigation of Climate Change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (511–597). Cambridge University Press.

Buytaert, W., and De Bièvre, B. (2012). Water for cities: The impact of climate change and demographic growth in the tropical Andes. Water Resources Research 48 (8).

C40 Cities, Deadline 2020 – How Cities Will Meet the Paris Agreement. http://www.c40.org/researches/ deadline-2020 (accessed February 23, 2018)

CMIP5. (2017). CMIP5 Coupled Model Intercomparison Project. Available from: http://cmip-pcmdi.llnl.gov/ cmip5/index.html [Accessed: December, 2017].

Collins, M., Knutti, R., Arblaster, J., Dufresne, J. -L., Fichelet, T., Friedlingstein, P., Gao, X., Gutowski, W. J., Johns, T., Krinner, G., Shongwe, M., Tebaldi, C., Weaver, A. J., and Wehner, M. (2014). Longterm climate change: Projections, commitments and irreversibility. In Stocker, T. F., Quin, D., Plattner, G. K., Tignor, M. M. B., Allen, S. K., Boschung, J., Nauels, A., Xia, Y., Bex, V., and Midgley, P. M. (eds.), Climate Change 2013, The Physical Science Basis: Working Group I Contribution to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (1028–1136). Cambridge University Press.

Conquito, Agrupar. Accessed: http://www.conquito.org.ec/servicios-agrupar/

Dankelman, I., Alam, K., Ahmed, W. B., Gueye, Y. D., Fatema, N., and Mensah-Kutin, R. (2008). Gender, climate change and human security lessons from Bangladesh, Ghana and Senegal. InThe Women's Environment and Development Organization (WEDO) with ABANTU for Development in Ghana, ActionAid Bangladesh and ENDA in Senegal.

Das, T., Pierce, D. W., Cayan, D. R., Vano, J. A., and Lettenmaier, D. P. (2011). The importance of warm season warming to western U.S. streamflow changes. Geophysical Research Letters 38(L23403) 5. Donkor, E. A., Mazzuchi, T. A., Soyner, R., and Roberson, J. A. (2014). Urban water demand forecasting—Review of methods and models. Journal of Water Resources Planning and Management 140, 146–159.

Ecoeficientes, Cisterna já. http://www.ecoeficientes.com.br/movimento-cisterna-ja/ (accessed Feb. 23, 2018)

EcoWatch (2016). Why This City of 21 Million People Is Sinking 3 Feet Every Year. Accessed on January 10th, 2018. https://www.ecowatch.com/why-this-city-of-21-million-people-is-sinking-3-feet-every-year-1882187727.html

ESRI (1998). ESRI Shapefile Technical Description: An ESRI White Paper.

Financial Tribune, "Tackling Water Crisis in Iran via Conservation Campaign" (2016). https://financialtribune. com/articles/people/55030/tackling-water-crisis-in-iran-via-conservation-campaign

Foobot, Why Summer Heats Foster Pollution Spikes? https://foobot.io/resources/heat-waves-make-airquality-worse/ (accessed February 23, 2018)

Franchini, M., & Mannucci, P. M. (2015). Impact on human health of climate changes. European journal of internal medicine, 26(1), 1-5.

The Guardian, "We expect catastrophe' – Manila, the megacity on the climate frontline" (2014) https://www. theguardian.com/environment/2014/mar/31/ipcc-climate-change-cities-manila

Georgakakos, A., Fleming, P., Dettinger, M., Peters-Lidard, C., Richmond, T. C., Reckhow, K., White, K., and Yates, D. (2014). Water resources. In Melillo, J. M., Richmond, T. C., and Yohe, G. W. (eds.), Climate Change Impacts in the United States: The Third National Climate Assessment (69–112). U.S. Global Change Research Program.

GGCA. (2009). Training Manual on Gender and Climate Change. International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN), United Nations Development Programme (UNDP), as well as Gender and Water Alliance, ENERGIA, International Network on Gender and Sustainable Energy, United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO), Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO), Women's Environment and Development Organization (WEDO) as part of the Global Gender and Climate Alliance (GGCA).

Gleeson T., Wada, Y., Bierkens, M. F. P., and van Beek, L. P. H. (2012). Water balance of global aquifers revealed by groundwater footprint. Nature 488, 197–200

Global Solar Thermal Energy Council, "Solar obligation by the state of Rio de Janeiro, Brazil" http://www. solarthermalworld.org/content/solar-obligation-state-rio-de-janeiro-brazil (accessed Feb. 23, 2018)

Greater London Authority, London Environment Strategy (2017) https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/ files/london_environment_strategy-_draft_for_public_consultation.pdf

Greater London Authority, London Regional Flood Risk Appraisal (2014) https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/ default/files/gla_migrate_files_destination/Regional percent20Flood percent20Risk percent20Assessment percent20- percent20First percent20Review percent20- percent20August percent202014.pdf Greater London Authority, The London Plan (2017) https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/thelondonplan-easy-read-lo-res_v2pages.pdf

Greater London Authority, London Sustainable Drainage Action Plan (2016) https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/ default/files/lsdap_december_2016.pdf

Grubler, A. (2012). Energy transitions research: Insights and cautionary tales. Energy Policy 50, 8-16.

Hallegatte, S. et al.(2013). Future flood losses in major coastal cities. Nature Climate Change, 3, p. 802–806. Hammer, S. A., Keirstead, J., Dhakal, S., Mitchell, J., Colley, M., Connell, R., Gonzalez, R., Herve-Mignucci, M., Parshall, L., Schulz, N., and Hyams, M. (2011). Climate change and urban energy systems. In Rosenzweig, C., Solecki, W. D., Hammer, S. A., and Mehrotra, S. (eds.), Climate Change and Cities: First Assessment Report of the Urban Climate Change Research Network. Cambridge University Press.

House-Peters, L. A., and Chang, H. (2011). Urban water demand modeling—Review of concepts, methods and organising principles. Water Resources Research 47(W05401), 15.

Huq, S., Kovats, S., Reid, H., & Satterthwaite, D. (2007). Reducing risks to cities from disasters and climate change.

Independent, "Vulnerable substations serving millions still at risk from flooding" (2014) http://www.independent. co.uk/environment/nature/vulnerable-substations-serving-millions-still-at-risk-from-flooding-9257678.html

Informal City Dialogues, "How a Savings Bank Became One Slum's Line in the Sand". https://nextcity.org/ informalcity/entry/how-one-slums-savings-bank-became-a-line-in-the-sand (accessed February 23, 2018) Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). (2013). Summary for policymakers. In Stocker, T. F., Qin, D., Plattner, G. -K., Tignor, M., Allen, S. K., Boschung, J., Nauels, A., Xia, Y., Bex, V., and Midgley, P. M. (eds.), Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press

International Energy Agency (IEA). (2008). World Energy Outlook. IEA

ISIMIP (2018). Model information and data caveats from ISIMIP Fast Track. Inter-Sectoral Model Impact Intercomparison Project. https://www.isimip.org/outputdata/caveats-fast-track/

JRC/PBL. (2013). Emission Database for Global Atmospheric Research (EDGAR). Release Version 4.2 FT2010. Accessed: http://edgar.jrc.ec .europa.eu

Kenney, D., Klein, R., Goemans, C., Alvord, C., and Shapiro, J. (2008). The Impact of Earlier Spring Snowmelt on Water Rights and Administration: A Preliminary Overview of Issues and Circumstances in the Western States. Western Water Assessment.

Kirtman, B., Power, S. B., Adedoyin, A. J., Boer, G. J., Bojariu, R., Camilloni, I., Doblas-Reyes, F., Fiore, A. M. M., Kimoto, M., Meehl, G., Prather, M., Sarr, A., Schar, C., Sutton, R., van Oldnborough, G. J., Vecchi, G., and Wang, H. J. (2014). Near-term climate change—Projections and predictability. In Stocker, T. F., Quin, D., Plattner, G. K., Tignor, M. M. B., Allen, S. K., Boschung, J., Nauels, A., Xia, Y., Bex, V., and Midgley, P. M. (eds.), Climate Change 2013, The Physical Science Basis—Working Group I Contribution to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (953–1028). Cambridge University Press.

Knowlton et al., 2014. 'Development and Implementation of South Asia's First Heat-Health Action Plan in Ahmedabad'. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 2014, 11(4), 3473-3492; doi: 10.3390/ijerph110403473

Los Angeles Times, "A long-simmering factor in Iran protests: climate change". (2018) http://www.latimes. com/world/middleeast/la-fg-iran-protests-climate-change-2018-story.html

Knoema (2016). World Power Plants Database. Accessed January 2018. https://knoema.com/WGEOPPD2016/ world-powerplants-database-2016

Manila Water Company, Sustainability Programs. http://www.manilawater.com/Pages/Sustainability percent20Programs.aspx (accessed Feb. 23, 2018)

Marcotullio, P. J., Sarzynski, A., Albrecht, J., Schulz, N., and Garcia, J. (2013). The geography of global urban greenhouse gas emissions: An exploratory analysis. Climatic Change 121, 621–634

McDonald, R. I., Weber, K., Padowski, J., Flörke, M., Schneider, C., Green, P. A., Gleeson, T., Eckman, S., Lehner, B., Balk, D., Boucher, T., Grill, G., and Montgomery, M. (2014). Water on an urban planet—Urbanization and the reach of urban water infrastructure. Global Environmental Change 27, 95–105.

McGranahan, G., Balk, D., and Anderson, B. (2007). The rising tide: Assessing the risks of climate change and human settlements in low elevation coastal zones. Environment and Urbanization 19 (1), 17–37

Mekonnen, M. M., & Hoekstra, A. Y. (2016). Four billion people facing severe water scarcity. Science Advances, 2(2), e1500323.

Meza, F. J., Vicuña, S., Jelinek, M., Bustos, E., and Bonelli, S. (2014). Assessing water demands and coverage sensitivity to climate change in the urban and rural sectors in central Chile. Journal of Water and Climate Change 5(2), 192–203.

Mishra, V., Ganguly, A. R., Nijssen, B., and Lettenmaier, D. P. (2015). Changes in observed climate extremes in global urban areas. Environmental Research Letters 10(2), 024005

Möller, I., Kudella, M., Rupprecht, F., Spencer, T., Paul, M., van Wesenbeeck, B., Wolters, G., Jensen, K., Bouma, T. J., Miranda-Lange, M., and Schimmels, S. (2014). Wave attenuation over coastal salt marshes under storm surge conditions. Nature Geoscience 7 (Oct. 2014). Doi: 10.1038/NGEO2251

Mora et al. 2017. Global risk of deadly heat. Nature Climate Change 7, 501–506.

NASA. (2017). NEX Global Daily Downscaled Climate Projections 2017. Available from: https://nex.nasa.gov/ nex/projects/1356/ [Accessed: December, 2017].

New Indian Express, "How the Cauvery trickled down to Tamil Nadu amid riots and revised court orders" (2016). http://www.newindianexpress.com/states/tamil-nadu/2016/oct/05/how-the-cauvery-trickled-down-to-tamil-nadu-amid-riots-and-revised-court-orders-1525393--1.html

Newell, P. (2005). Climate for change? Civil society and the politics of global warming. Global civil society, 6, 1-31.

New York Tlmes, "Warming, Water Crisis, Then Unrest: How Iran Fits an Alarming Pattern" (2018) https:// www.nytimes.com/2018/01/18/climate/water-iran.html?hp&action=click&pgtype=Homepage&clickSource=st ory-heading&module=first-column-region®ion=top-news&WT.nav=top-news&_r=0 Nicholls, R. J., Dawson, R. J., and Day, S. (2015). Broad Scale Coastal Simulation: New Techniques to Understand and Manage Shorelines in the Third Millennium, Springer.

NOAA National Weather Service. 2016. Natural hazard statistics: 76-year list of severe weather fatalities. www.nws.noaa.gov/om/hazstats/resources/weather_fatalities.pdf.Ogden, N. H., Bouchard, C., Kurtenbach, K., Margos, G., Lindsay, L. R., Trudel, L., and Milord, F. (2010). Active and passive surveillance and phylogenetic analysis of Borrelia burgdorferi elucidate the process of Lyme disease risk emergence in Canada. Environmental Health Perspectives 118(7), 909–914. Accessed: http://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.0901766

NYC Department of Environmental Protection Public Affairs, One New York City: One Water. http://www.nyc. gov/html/dep/pdf/climate/one-nyc-one-water.pdf

Oberts, G. L. (2007). Influence of snowmelt dynamics on stormwater runoff quality. Watershed Protection Techniques 1, 55–61.

O'Hara, J. K., and Georgakakos, K. P. (2008). Quantifying the urban water supply impacts of climate change. Water Resources Management 22, 1477–1497.

Omumbo, J., Lyon, B., Waweru, S., Connor, S., and Thomson, M. (2011). Raised temperatures over the Kericho tea estates: Revisiting the climate in the East African highlands malaria debate. Malaria Journal 10(12).

Orlowsky et al., 2014 Environ. Res. Lett. 9 074007.

People's Dialogue. Accessed: http://www.pdghana.org/ Feb. 23, 2018

Porter, J. R., Xie, L., Challinor, A. J., Cochrane, K., Howden, S. M., Iqbal, M. M., Lobell, D. B., and Travasso, M. I. (2014). Food security and food production systems. In Field, C. B., Barros, V. R., Dokken, D. J., Mach, K. J., Mastrandrea, M. D., Bilir, T. E., Chatterjee, M., Ebi, K. L., Estrada, Y. O., Genova, R. C., Girma, B., Kissel, E. S., Levy, A. N., MacCracken, S., Mastrandrea, P. R., and White, L. L. (eds.), Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part A: Global and Sectoral Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel of Climate Change (485–533). Cambridge University Press

Reardon, T. (2016). Growing food for growing cities: Transforming food systems in an urbanising world. Chicago, US: The Chicago Council on Global Affairs.

Reuters, "FACTBOX: Food price rises spark protests" (2008). https://www.reuters.com/article/us-food-prices-protests/factbox-food-price-rises-spark-protests-idUSL1579452720080515

Revi, A., Satterthwaite, D., Aragón-Durand, F., Corfee-Morlot, J., Kiunsi, R. B. R., Pelling, M., Roberts, D. C., and Solecki, W. (2014). Urban areas. In Field, C. B., Barros, V. R., Dokken, D. J., Mach, K. J., Mastrandrea, M. D., Bilir, T. E., Chatterjee, M., Ebi, K. L., Estrada, V., Genova, R. C., Girma, B., Kissel, E. S., Levy, A. N., Maccracken, S., Mastrandrea, P. R., and White, L. L. (eds.), Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part A: Global and Sectoral Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (535–612). Cambridge University Press.

Reyes, O. (2013). Critical issues for Channelling Climate finance via private sector actors. URL: http://cafod. org. uk/content/download/9496/76572/file/Channelling percent 20Climate percent 20Finance percent 20via percent 20PS, 20.

Rose, J. B., Epstein, P. R., Lipp, E. K., Sherman, B. H., Bernard, S. M., and Patz, J. A. (2001). Climate variability and change in the United States: Potential impacts on water- and foodborne diseases caused by microbiologic agents. Environmental Health Perspectives 109(Suppl 2), 211–221

Rosenzweig, C., Solecki, W., Romero-Lankao, P., Mehrotra, S., Dhakal, S., & Ali Ibrahim, S. (Eds.). (2018). Climate Change and Cities: Second Assessment Report of the Urban Climate Change Research Network. Cambridge University Press. New York.

Rotzoll, K., and Fletcher, C. H. (2013). Assessment of groundwater inundation as a consequence of sea-level rise. Nature Climate Change 3(5), 477–481.

Ruth, M., Bernier, C., Jollands, N., and Golubiewski, N. (2007). Adaptation of urban water supply infrastructure to impacts from climate and socioeconomic changes—The case of Hamilton. New Zealand: Water Resources Management 21, 1031–1045.

Satterthwaite, D. (2008, January). Climate change and urbanization: Effects and implications for urban governance. In United Nations Expert Group meeting on population distribution, urbanization, internal migration and development (pp. 21-23). DESA New York.

Scanlon, B. R., Duncan, I., and Reedy, R. C. (2013b). Drought and the water-energy nexus in Texas. Environmental Research Letters 8(4), 045033.

Scanlon, B. R., Reedy, R. C., Duncan, I., Mullican, W. F., and Young, M. (2013a). Controls on water use for thermoelectric generation: Case study Texas, U.S. Environmental Science & Technology 47(19), 11326–11334.

Schleich, J., and Hillenbrand, T. (2009). Determinants of residential water demand. Ecological Economics 68,1756–1769.

Seattle Government, Carbon Neutral, http://www.seattle.gov/light/enviro/carbonneutral.htm (Accessed Feb. 23, 2018) Simarmata, H.A. et al. (ND). The Community-driven Adaptation Planning: Examining the ways of kampungs in North Coastal Jakarta. Case Study No. 6.A UCCRN.

Stoker, P., and Rothfeder, R. (2014). Drivers of urban water use. Sustainable Cities and Society 12, 1–8.

Syvitski, J. P. M., Kettner, A. J., Overeem, I., Hutton, E. W. H., Hannon, M. T., Brakenridge, G. R., Day, J., Vorosmarty, C., Saito, Y., Giosan, L., and Nicholls, R. J. (2009). Sinking deltas due to human activities. Nature Geoscience 2(10), 681–686.

Tanner, T., Mitchell, T., Polack, E., & Guenther, B. (2009). Urban governance for adaptation: assessing climate change resilience in ten Asian cities. IDS Working Papers, 2009(315), 01-47.

Taylor, R. G., Scanlon, B., Döll, P., Rodell, M., van Beek, R., Wada, Y., Longuevergne, L., Leblanc, M., Famiglietti, J. S., Edmunds, M., Konikow, L., Green, T. R., Chen, J., Taniguchi, M., Bierkens, M. F. P., MacDonald, A., Fan, Y., Maxwell, R. M., Yechieli, Y., Gurdak, J. J., Allen, D. M., Shamsudduha, M., Hiscock, K., Yeh, P. J. -F., Holman, I., and Treidel, H. (2012). Ground water and climate change. Nature Climate Change 3, 322–329

Tompkins, E. L., Mensah, A., King, L., Long, T. K., Lawson, E. T., Hutton, C., Hoang, V. A., Gordon, C., Fish, M., Dyer, J., and Bood, N. (2013). An investigation of the evidence of benefits from climate compatible development. Sustainability Research Institute.

Tyler, S., and Moench, M. (2012). A framework for urban climate resilience. Climate and Development 4, 311–326.

UNESCO (2015). United Nations Work Water Development Report 2015 -- Water for a Sustainable Work Facts and Figures. Prepared by the United Nations World Water Assessment Programme. http://www.unesco.org/ new/fileadmin/MULTIMEDIA/HQ/SC/images/WWDR2015Facts_Figures_ENG_web.pdf

UN-Habitat. (2013a). Planning and Design for Sustainable Urban Mobility. Global Report on Human Settlements. UN-Habitat.

UN-Habitat, Urban Theme, Energy. https://unhabitat.org/urban-themes/energy/ (accessed February 23, 2018).

United Nations, Department of Economics and Social Affairs (UNDESA), Population Division (2012). World Urbanization Prospects: The 2011 Revision. United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division

United Nations, Department of Economics and Social Affairs (UNDESA), Population Division (2014). World Urbanization Prospects: The 2014 Revision, Highlights (ST/ESA/SER.A/352)

United Nations, Department of Economics and Social Affairs (UNDESA), Population Division (2014). World Urbanization Prospects: The 2014 Revision, Highlights. United Nations. https://esa.un.org/unpd/wup/

United Nations, Momentum for Change (2014) http://unfccc.int/secretariat/momentum_for_change/items/6214.php

UN-Water Decade Programme on Advocacy and Communication, Water and Cities Facts and Figures. Accessed: http://www.un.org/waterforlifedecade/swm_cities_zaragoza_2010/pdf/facts_and_figures_long_final_eng.pdf

US Department of Energy, "Seattle Helps Communities Power Buildings Efficiently". https://energy.gov/eere/ better-buildings-neighborhood-program/seattle-helps-communities-power-buildings-efficiently (accessed February 23, 2018).

US Energy Information Administration. "Hydroelectric plants account for more than 70 percent of Brazil's electric generation". https://www.eia.gov/todayinenergy/detail.php?id=27472 (accessed Feb. 23, 2018)

Veldkamp, T., Wada, Y., Aerts, J., and Ward, P. (2016) Towards a global water scarcity risk assessment framework: incorporation of probability distributions and hydro-climatic variability. Environ. Res. Lett. 11 024006.

Vicuña, S., Redwood, M., Dettinger, M., and Noyola, A. (2018). Urban water systems. In Rosenzweig, C., W. Solecki, P. Romero-Lankao, S. Mehrotra, S. Dhakal, and S. Ali Ibrahim (eds.), Climate Change and Cities: Second Assessment Report of the Urban Climate Change Research Network. Cambridge University Press. New York. 519–552.

Vuviroli, D., and Weingartner, R. (2008). Water towers—A global view of the hydrological importance of mountains: In E. Wiegandt (ed.), Mountains-Sources of Water, Sources of Knowledge (15–20). Springer

Wada Y, van Beek L P H, van Kempen C M, Reckman J W T M, Vasak S and Bierkens M F P 2010 Geophys. Res. Lett. 37 L20402.

Water Funds, "What is a water fund?". http://waterfunds.org/esp/what-is-a-water-fund/ (accessed Feb. 23, 2018)

Wiley, M. W., and Palmer, R. N. (2008). Estimating the impacts and uncertainty of climate change on a municipal water supply system. Journal of Water Resources Planning and Management 134, 239–246.

Wilhelmi, O. V., Purvis, K. L., & Harriss, R. C. (2004). Designing a geospatial information infrastructure for mitigation of heat wave hazards in urban areas. Natural Hazards Review, 5(3), 147-158.

Williams, D. R., Mohammed, S. A., Leavell, J., & Collins, C. (2010). Race, socioeconomic status, and health: complexities, ongoing challenges, and research opportunities. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1186(1), 69-101.

World Bank, Urban population (percent of total) https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.URB.TOTL.IN.ZS (accessed February 23, 2018).

World Bank, Urban poverty headcount ratio at national poverty lines (percent of urban population). https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SI.POV.URHC (accessed February 23, 2018).

World Bank, World Development Indicators, National Urban Poverty Rate. https://datacatalog.worldbank.org/ dataset/world-development-indicators (accessed February 23, 2018)

World Health Organization, Water Safety Plan, http://www.wsportal.org/what-are-water-safety-plans/ (Accessed Feb. 23, 2018)

Zandersen, M., Jensen, A., Termansen, M., Buchholtz, G., Munter, B., Bruun, H. G., and Andersen, A. H. (2014). Ecosystem based approaches to Climate Adaptation – Urban Prospects and Barriers. Aarhus University, DCE – Danish Centre for Environment and Energy, 94 Scientific Report from DCE – Danish Centre for Environment and Energy No. 83. Accessed: http://dce2.au.dk/pub/SR83.pdf

Zhou, S. L., McMahon, T. A., Walton A., and Lewis, J. (2000). Forecasting daily urban water demand—A case study of Melbourne. Journal of Hydrology 236,153–164.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

UCCRN

Co-Leads

Cynthia Rosenzweig, NASA Goddard Institute for Space Studies

William Solecki, Hunter College

Project Management and Report Development

Danielle Manley, *Columbia University* Somayya Ali Ibrahim, *Columbia University*

Technical Direction

Peter Marcotullio, Hunter College Diana Reckien, Columbia University Alex Ruane, NASA Goddard Institute for Space Studies

Technical and Data Analysis

Christian Braneon, NASA Goddard Institute for Space Studies Paul Racco, Hunter College Gillian Mollod, Columbia University Daniel Bader, Columbia University Meridel Phillips,Columbia University Carrie Lang, Columbia University

Case Studies

Marta De Los Rios White, *UCCRN* Usama Khalid, *UCCRN* An-Chi Ho, *Columbia University* Tae Gyeong Hamm, *Columbia University*

Acclimatise

Anu Jogesh Will Bugler Elisa Jiménez Alonso Georgina Wade

Amanda Rycerz

C40

.....

Tom Bailey		
Markus Berensson		
Snigdha Garg		
Neuni Farhad		

Global Covenant of Mayors

Shannon McDaniel Kerem Yilmaz

APPENDIX: DATA SOURCES

DATA	DESCRIPTION OF DATA AND LINK TO SOURCE
Population Baseline	Name of data source: Natural Earth Data Populated Places Entity: Oakridge National Laboratory Link to data: http://www.naturalearthdata.com/downloads/10m- cultural-vectors/10m-populated-places/ Year created: 2017 Description of data: Urban population estimates for the present day (2016-17), version 4.0.0
Population Future	Name of data sources: Natural Earth Data; Global Rural-Urban Mapping Project (GRUMP) Entity: Oakridge National Laboratory; NASA Socioeconomic Data and Applications Center (SEDAC) and Center for International Earth Science Information Network (CIESIN) at Columbia University Link to data: Natural Earth Dataset - http://www.naturalearthdata. com/downloads/10m-cultural-vectors/10m-populated-places/ GRUMP - http://sedac.ciesin.columbia.edu/data/set/grump-v1-urban- ext-polygons-rev01/docs Year created: 2017 Description of data: Urban population estimates for the 2050
Extreme Temperature Baseline	Name of data source: NASA Earth Exchange Global Daily Downscaled Projections (NEX-GDDP) dataset Entity: NASA Link to data: https://cds.nccs.nasa.gov/nex-gddp/ Year created: 2012 Description of data: Model mean of four global climate models (IPSL- CM5A-LR, MIROC-ESM-CHEM, GFDL-ESM2M, NorESM1-M) in the base period (1980-2005)
Extreme Temperature Future	Name of data source: NASA Earth Exchange Global Daily Downscaled Projections (NEX-GDDP) dataset Entity: NASA Link to data: https://cds.nccs.nasa.gov/nex-gddp/ Year created: 2012 Description of data: Model mean of four global climate models (IPSL- CM5A-LR, MIROC-ESM-CHEM, GFDL-ESM2M, NorESM1-M) in the 2050s (2041-2070)

DESCRIPTION OF DATA AND LINK TO SOURCE

Extreme Temperature and Poverty	EXTREME HEAT Name of data source: NASA Earth Exchange Global Daily Downscaled Projections (NEX-GDDP) dataset
Baseline	Entity: NASA
	Link to data: https://cds.nccs.nasa.gov/nex-gddp/
	Year created: 2012 Description of data: Model mean of four global climate models (IPSL
	CM5A-LR, MIROC-ESM-CHEM, GFDL-ESM2M, NorESM1-M) in the base period (1980-2005) hottest 3-month maximum average temperature
	POVERTY Name of data source: National Urban Poverty Headcount Ratios
	Entity: World Bank
	Link to data: https://datacatalog.worldbank.org/dataset/world- development-indicators
	Year created: 2017
	Description of data: National urban poverty rates expressed as a percentage of total national urban population
Extreme	EXTREME HEAT
Temperature	Name of data source: NASA Earth Exchange Global Daily Downscaled
and Poverty	Projections (NEX-GDDP) dataset
Future	Entity: NASA Link to data: https://cds.nccs.nasa.gov/nex-gddp/
	Year created: 2012
	Description of data: Model mean of four global climate models (IPSL
	CM5A-LR, MIROC-ESM-CHEM, GFDL-ESM2M, NorESM1-M) in the 2050s (2041-2070) hottest 3-month maximum average temperature
	POVERTY
	Name of data source: National Urban Poverty Headcount Ratios Entity: World Bank
	Link to data: https://datacatalog.worldbank.org/dataset/world-
	development-indicators
	Year created: 2017
	Description of data: National urban poverty rates expressed as a percentage of total national urban population
Water	Name of data source: ISIMIP Fast Track
Availability	Entity: Inter-Sectoral Model Impact Intercomparison Project (ISIMIP)
Future	Link to data: https://esg.pik-potsdam.de/search/isimip-ft/
	Year created: 2018 Description of data: Two GHMs (JULES and LPJmL) and four GCMS
	(IPSL-CM5A-LR, MIROC-ESM-CHEM, GFDL-ESM2M, and NorESM1-M)
	utilised to develop multi-model mean.
Food	Name of data source: ISIMIP Fast Track
Security Eutoro	Entity: Inter-Sectoral Model Impact Intercomparison Project (ISIMIP)
Future	Link to data: https://www.isimip.org/outputdata/ Year created: 2018
	Description of data: 5 GGCM (PEGASUS, pDSSAT, GEPIC, LPG-GUESS,
	EPIC) / 4 GCM multi-model mean utilising four global climate models
	(IPSL-CM5A-LR, MIROC-ESM-CHEM, GFDL-ESM2M, and NorESM1-M);
	Spatial Production Allocation Model crop area estimates are utilised

DATA

DESCRIPTION OF DATA AND LINK TO SOURCE

Sea Level Rise Future	 SEA LEVEL RISE Name of data source: CMIP5 Entity: World Climate Research Programme Link to data: https://cmip.llnl.gov/cmip5/ Year created: 2013 Description of data: Projected ensemble mean increase in sea level relative to the 2000-2004 base period level from three global climate models (IPSL-CM5A-LR, MIROC-ESM-CHEM, NorESM1-M) at 1 degree grid scale and a four-component approach that incorporates both local and global factors related to changes in ocean height (local), thermal expansion (global), loss of ice from glaciers, ice caps, and land-based ice sheets (global) and land water storage (global).
	ELEVATION Name of data source: Global Multi-resolution Terrain Elevation Data Entity: United States Geological Survey Link to data: https://topotools.cr.usgs.gov/gmted_viewer/gmted2010_ global_grids.php Year created: 2010 Description of data: Mean statistic, 15 arc-seconds
Sea Level Rise and Energy Future	POWER PLANT Name of data source: World Power Plants Database, 2016 Entity: Knoema Link to data: https://knoema.com/WGEOPPD2016/world-power- plants-database-2016 Year created: 2016 Description of data: database of global power plants by location, size, type, and capacity.
	 SEA LEVEL RISE Name of data source: CMIP5 Entity: World Climate Research Programme Link to data: https://cmip.llnl.gov/cmip5/ Year created: 2013 Description of data: Projected ensemble mean increase in sea level relative to the 2000-2004 base period level from three global climate models (IPSL-CM5A-LR, MIROC-ESM-CHEM, NorESM1-M) at 1 degree grid scale and a four-component approach that incorporates both local and global factors related to changes in ocean height (local), thermal expansion (global), loss of ice from glaciers, ice caps, and land-based ice sheets (global) and land water storage (global).
	ELEVATION Name of data source: Global Multi-resolution Terrain Elevation Data Entity: United States Geological Survey Year created: https://topotools.cr.usgs.gov/gmted_viewer/ gmted2010_global_grids.php Year created: 2010 Description of data: Mean statistic, 15 arc-seconds

Page 58

THE FUTURE WE DON'T WANT – Expert Advisory Group

The Future We Don't Want benefited greatly from the advice and input that the project's Expert Advisory Group provided.

Alessandra Sgobbi, European Commission Cristian Tolvett, SEREMI Environment Metro Region Dan Zarrilli, New York City Office of the Mayor Eleni Myrivili, City of Athens Esteban Leon, UN-Habitat Jasminka Jaksic, Dubai Municipality Katie Vines, Climate KIC Australia Leah Flax, 100 Resilient Cities Mu Haizhen, Shanghai Climate Change Research Center Rosa Suriñach, UN-Habitat Saleemul Huq, International Centre for Climate Change and Development Sean O'Donoghue, eThekwini Municipality Stéphane Hallegatte, World Bank Group Tanya Müller García, Mexico City Vicki Barmby, City of Melbourne

THE FUTURE WE DON'T WANT – Interviews with city officials and

academic experts

We thank the following experts for providing insights on how climate change is impacting urban areas as well as what solutions that cities are already taking to address these challenges.

Jainey Bavishi, City of New York Susanne DesRoches, City of New York Esteban Gallego Restrepo, City of Medellín Cristina Argudo Pazmino, City of Quito Diego Enriquez Pabón, City of Quito Aisa Tobing, Jakarta Regional Planning and Development Board Grace Mbena, Dar es Salaam City Council Flavia Carloni, City of Rio de Janeiro Monica Porto, State Government of São Paulo Yann Françoise, City of Paris Jessica Finn Coven, City of Seattle Emma Porio, Ateneo de Manila University Kirstin Miller, Ecocity Builders Chando Park, Seoul Metropolitan Government Dongjoon Ha, Seoul Metropolitan Government Hyejung Yeo, Seoul Metropolitan Government Ganesh Gorti, The Energy and Resources Institute Anjali Jaiswal, NRDC Cassie Sutherland, Greater London Authority Peter North, Greater London Authority